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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
COMPANY PROFILE 

The Company was incorporated on 18 November 
1984 as a private limited company in Pakistan and 
subsequently converted into a public limited company
on 30 December 1987. The shares of the Company 
are listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange (formerly they 
were listed on all Stock Exchanges of Pakistan) with 
effect from 27 June 1995. The principal activity of the 
Company is manufacturing and sale of Plastic and 
Crown Caps,  PET Resin, PET Preform and 

The registered  of the Company
 is situated in Karachi.

Due to continuing depressed polyester staple  
market situation, the Board has decided to convert 
existing  manufacturing plant into PET resin 
manufacturing plant by making necessary  

and addition in existing plant. PET resin manufacturing 
facility has started its  commercial production
in October 2016

The commencement of PET Resin manufacturing 
would enable the Company to go further downstream 
in packaging industry and provide complete one 
window solution to beverage industry customers which 
has shown continuous growth in double  over 
years. The Company is now poised to participate in 
growing needs of beverage consumption by playing an 
integral role by being a priority one-window supplier 
to multinational bottlers and local brand owners in 
Pakistan.

BOPET Resin
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PRODUCT INFORMATION 

The role of caps and closure is to seal and preserve 
the product inside each bottle. Pakistan Synthetics 
Limited (PSL) provides bottlers capping solutions 
that provide secure sealing, safe opening, consistent 
and consumer friendly removal torques, effective 
tamper evidence and application optimization. PSL 
understands how important excellent application 
performance and line  are for bottlers. The 
caps by PSL  the bottler’s individual brand 
identity; we have a wide range of colors and offer 
customized printing while fully maintaining product 
integrity and safety.

Polyethylene terephthalate (PET) is the most 
common thermoplastic polymer resin of the 
polyester family. Because PET is an excellent 
water and moisture barrier material, plastic bottles 
made from PET are used for soft drinks, still water, 
edible oil industry and pharmaceutical sector. The 
convenience attached with plastic packaging is 
paramount in increasing the consumption of 
PET in Pakistan.

Plastic and Crown Caps PET Resin and PET Preform
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STATISTICAL SUMMARY Rupees  in  million

Gross sales

Profit / (loss) before taxation

Taxation

Profit / (loss) after taxation

Gross assets employed
(including capital work-in-progress)

Paid-up capital

Shareholders' equity

Earnings/(loss) per share after taxation

Break-up value

EARNINGS AND PAY OUT

Cash dividend

FINANCIAL RATIOS Ratios

PRODUCTION Quantity

Current Assets : Current Liabilities

Long-term Debts : Equity

Polyester Staple Fibre - Tons

PET Resin / Polyester Chips - Tons

Plastic and Crown Caps - Cartons

PET Preform - Octabins

Rs. per share of Rs. 10 each

YEAR
ENDED
30 JUNE



THE ONLY PLACE

success
COMES BEFORE

work
IS THE DICTIONARY

(Vince Lombardi)
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As required under the Code of Corporate Governance, an annual evaluation of the Board of Directors of 
Pakistan Synthetics Limited is carried out. The purpose of this evaluation is to ensure that the Board's 
overall performance and effectiveness is measured and benchmarked against expectations in the context of 
objectives set for the Company.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2019, the Board's overall performance and effectiveness has been 
assessed as Satisfactory. Improvement is an ongoing process leading to action plans. The overall assessment 
as satisfactory is based on an evaluation of  integral components, including vision, mission and values; 
engagement in strategic planning; formulation of policies; monitoring the organization's business activities; 
monitor financial resource management; effective fiscal oversight; equitable treatment of all employees and 
efficiency in carrying out the Board's business. 

The Board of Directors of the Company received agendas and supporting written material including follow 
up materials in sufficient time prior to the board and its committee meetings. The board meets frequently 
enough to adequately discharge its responsibilities. The non- executive and independent directors are equally 
involved in important decisions.

Karachi

Date: 19 September 2019

ANWAR HAJI KARIM
Chairman



Pakistan Synthetics Limited
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
We are pleased to present before you the 34th Annual Report together with the Audited Financial Statements 
of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2019.

OPERATING PERFORMANCE 

During the year under review the Company produced 25,121 MT of Resin as against 25,782 MT of Resin 
during the corresponding period last year and sold 29,522 MT of Resin as against 26,528 MT of Resin during 
the corresponding period last year. Further, last year the Company has successfully commissioned PET 
preform manufacturing plant on 16 May 2018. During the year, the Company produced 5,986 octabins of 
preform as against 1,771 octabins of preform during the corresponding period last year and sold 3,463 
octabins of preform during the year.

During the year under review, the Company produced 459,345 cartons of plastic and crown caps as against 
495,057 cartons of last year and sold 442,594 cartons during the year as against 489,358 cartons of last year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

As the Company had converted existing fibre manufacturing plant into PET resin manufacturing plant in 
2016 by making necessary modifications in existing plant, the Company has presented fibre segment as discontinued 
operation. Summarized financial results of continuing and discontinued operations are as below,

Continuing operations

During the year under review, the company’s gross turnover of continuing operations increased to Rs. 
8,199.37 million from Rs. 5,997.01 million during the corresponding last year. 

The Company incurred loss before tax from continuing operations of Rs. 150.44 million as against profit 
before tax of Rs. 83.44 million in the last year. The net loss after tax stood from continuing operations at Rs. 
124.16 million as against net profit after tax of Rs. 150.50 million in the last year. Loss is mainly attributable 
to exchange loss of Rs. 352.88 million (2018: exchange loss of Rs. 171.26 million).

Discontinued operations

During the year under review, the company’s gross turnover of discontinued operations increased to Rs. 
14.10 million from Rs. 3.73 million during the corresponding last year. 

The Company posted profit before tax from discontinued operations of Rs. 0.35 million as against loss before 
tax of Rs. 46.52 million in the last year. The net profit after tax from discontinued operations was Rs. 0.26 
million as against net loss after tax of Rs. 33.54 million in the last year.

EARNING PER SHARE 

The net loss per share, after providing for taxation, for the year ended 30 June 2019 was Rs. 2.21 (30 
June 2018: earnings per share of Rs. 2.09).

DIVIDEND

Based on the current liquidity position of the Company, the Directors did not recommend any dividend for 
the year ended 30 June 2019.

Annual Report 2019
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
RIGHT ISSUE 

The Directors have decided to issue 50 right shares for every 100 shares held i.e. 50% at a right price of Rs. 
18 per share (including a premium of Rs. 8 per share).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINITIES

The Company is exposed to certain inherent risks and uncertainties. However, we consider the following as 
key risks:

 • Adverse movement in foreign exchange rates and commodity prices
 • Adverse movement in industrial utilities pricing
 • Adverse movement in policy rate of State Bank of Pakistan

BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND FUTURE OUTLOOK

In financial year 2019, we witnessed a most demanding year to-date in our history. Faced with unprece-
dented trade and current account deficits, the government resorted to increased custom duties and rupee 
devaluation. Within a year, Pak rupee saw its value drop by almost 32%. This immense drop in such a short 
span of period, posed multiple pronged challenges to your company. Amidst the efforts to curtail inflation-
ary pressures and reduce the otherwise widening macroeconomic imbalances, domestic economic activity 
experienced the brunt of the stabilization measures implemented thus far. Your company, reliant on import 
of almost all its raw materials, has had to endure losses due to the sudden changes in the exchange rate. 
Besides tremendous increase in the raw material value due to falling Pak rupee, the cost of doing business 
has also increased where we have witnessed massive increase in gas prices and policy rate of State Bank of 
Pakistan.

Going forward, we remain highly hopeful that the turbulence our country witnessed in the previous 
12-months is behind us. The uncertainty on the exchange rate front seems to much under control too. The 
latest inflation report reflects that the inflation numbers are not as high as was being predicted. Hence, we 
remain optimistic that going forward, interest rates will recede from the current levels.

Your company is poised in a good position of playing a pivotal role in the government’s policy of import 
substitution. Our latest project of preforms has attained approval by all MNCs and running satisfactorily 
by the customers. The management is keen to increase its sales through a “total package deal” for its 
customers by providing both caps and preforms together and to achieve operational efficiencies.

WEBSITE

All our stakeholders and general public can visit the Company’s website, www.pslpet.com, which has a 
designated section for investors containing relevant information.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT 

The Directors report that no material change or commitment has taken place, other than those disclosed 
which has affected the financial position of the company from the end of the financial year up to the date of 
this report.An
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAME WORK

As required under the Code of Corporate Governance, the Directors confirm compliance with the Corpo-
rate and Financial Reporting Frame Work for the following:

 a) The financial statements, prepared by the management of the Company, present fairly its  
  state of affairs, the results of its operations, cash flows and changes in equity.

 b) The Company has maintained proper books of accounts.

 c) Appropriate accounting policies have been consistently applied in preparation of financial  
  statements and accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment except  
  for change in accounting policy due to adoption of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with  
  Customers’ and IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ as disclosed in Note 3, 4.2 and 4.9 to the   
  financial statements.

 d) International Accounting and Reporting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, have  
  been followed in preparation of financial statements

 e) The system of internal control and other such procedures, which are in place, are sound in  
  design and have been effectively implemented and monitored on an on going basis by the  
  management. The process of review will continue and any weakness in control will be 
  removed. The Board of Directors oversees the system of internal control.

 f) There are no significant doubts upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

 g) There has been no material departure from the best practices of corporate governance, as  
  detailed in the listing regulations.

 h) There has been no default on payment on any debt.

 i) The Company has developed an efficient and effective Environment Management Plan to  
  ensure that all necessary measures are identified and implemented in order to protect the  
  environment and comply with the environmental legislation. The Plan has been approved  
  from relevant authorities. Further, the Company has also provided appropriate training to  
  employees of the Company to work on environment management plan whereby employees  
  were trained to ensure safe handling, storage and transportation of hazardous chemicals  
  and to follow other environmental requirements.

 j) Key operating and financial data for the last ten years in summarized form is annexed.

 k) No Trade was made by the Directors, executives and their spouses and minor children in  
  the shares of the Company. 

 l) Information about outstanding taxes and levies are given in the Notes to the Financial  
  Statements.
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors as at 30 June 2019 is as under;

Independent Directors:     3
Other Non-Executive Directors:    4
Executive Directors:     2

The total number of directors are nine as per the following:
a. Male:   Eight
b. Female: One

MEETING OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

During the year, five (05) meetings of the Board of Directors were held. Attendance by each Director was 
as follows:-

NAME OF DIRECTOR    NO OF MEETING ATTENDANCE

I. Mr. Umer Haji Karim – Non Executive (Note 1)    -
II. Mr. Anwar Haji Karim – Non - Executive    4
III. Mr. Yakoob Haji Karim – Executive (Note 2)    5
IV. Mr. Abid Umer – Non Executive          5
V. Mr. Sajid Haroon – Non Executive         4
VI. Mr. Pir Mohammad A. Kaliya – Non Executive (Note 1)   3
VII. Mr. Noman Yakoob – Executive      5
VIII. Mr. Ali Kamal - NIT - Independent     5
IX. Mr. Muhammad Ahmed Aslam - Non Executive (Note 1)   1
X. Mrs. Saeed Fatima Naqvi – Independent (Note 1)   -
XI. Mr. Faraz Younus Bandukda – Independent  (Note 2)   -

Note 1: Mr. Umer Haji Karim and Mr. Pir Mohammad A. Kaliya have retired from the directorship of the 
Company on 6 April 2019. Mr. Muhammad Ahmed Aslam and Mrs. Saeed Fatima Naqvi were elected as 
director in sixteenth extra-ordinary general meeting of the Company for a term of three years commencing 
from 6 April 2019.

Note 2: Mr. Yakoob Haji Karim has resigned as Director of the Company with effect from 28 June 2019. 
The Board has appointed Mr. Faraz Younus Bandukda on 28 June 2019 to fill in the casual vacancy. 
Mr. Yakoob Haji Karim will continue to serve as Chief Executive of the Company.

Leave of absence was granted to Directors who could not attend the Board meetings.

MEETING OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

During the year, four (04) meetings of the Audit Committee were held. Attendance by each Director was 
as follows:-

NAME OF DIRECTOR    NO OF MEETING ATTENDANCE

I. Mr. Ali Kamal-NIT      4
II. Mr. Pir Mohammad A. Kaliya**     3
III. Mr. Abid Umer       4
IV. Mr. Sajid Haroon**      1

** Mr. Sajid Haroon replaces Mr. Pir Mohammad A. Kaliya as member of the audit committee after 
retirement of Mr. Pir Mohammad A. Kaliya from the board of directors of the Company.



Pakistan Synthetics Limited
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
MEETING OF THE HR AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

During the year, one (01) meeting of the HR and Remuneration Committee was held. Attendance by each 
Director was as follows:-

NAME OF DIRECTOR    NO OF MEETING ATTENDANCE

I. Mr. Sajid Haroon      1
II. Mr. Yakoob Haji Karim      1
III. Mr. Abid Umer       1

REMUNERATION POLICY OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The fee of the Non-Executive and Independent Directors for attending the Board and Committee meetings 
of the Company is determined by the Board from time to time.

APPOINTMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE

During the year, Mr. Yakoob Haji Karim has been appointed as Chief Executive of the Company in place 
of Mr. Anwar Haji Karim for a term of 3 years with effect from 18 April 2019 at monthly remuneration of 
Rs.500,000/-.

PATTERN OF SHARE HOLDING

The pattern of shareholding as on 30 June 2019 is annexed.

AUDITORS

The present auditors of the Company, KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., Chartered Accountants, retire and 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. The Directors endorsed recommendation of the Audit 
Committee for their re-appointment for the year ending 30 June 2020.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Management would like to place on record its appreciation for dedication and hard work rendered by 
its employees and workers.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 

Karachi
Dated: 19 September 2019
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Chairman
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Chief executive
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
MISSION STATEMENT 

Our Mission.

Our Vision.
To be an End to End solution provider for our partners, instead of working in a
vendor-supplier model whereby all needs of our customers is catered
by Pakistan Synthetics Limited.

Our Mission is to be the most efficient manufacturer of high performance
packaging requirements of Industry in Pakistan.
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STATEMENT OF ETHICS AND  
BUSINESS PRACTICES
• PSL  resolves to always place the company’s interest 

• PSL resolves to excel through resource management namely, human 
(professional & technical both),  and other infrastructural  facilities 
and to ensure reasonable return to all the stakeholders;

• PSL conducts business as a responsible and law abiding corporate member 
of society to achieve its legitimate commercial objectives and supports 
unconditionally the Compliance with the Best Practices of Corporate 
Governance for the betterment of the corporate culture;

• PSL expects from its employees full integrity, total honesty, fair and impartial 
practices in all aspects of its business;

• PSL resolves to adopt fair and ethical marketing practices and to prepare itself 
to face the challenges of open markets under WTO by supplying its customers 
quality product at competitive prices;

• PSL resolves not to compromise on principles.

Pakistan Synthetics Limited

Annual Report 2019
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LISTED COMPANIES (CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2017
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019  
The Company has complied with the requirements of the Regulations in the following manner:

1. The total number of directors are nine as per the following:
 a. Male:   Eight
 b. Female: One

2. The Company encourages representation of independent non-executive directors and directors  
 representing minority interests on its Board of Directors. At present the Board includes:

 
3. The directors have confirmed that none of them is serving as a director on more than five listed  
 companies, including this Company (excluding the listed subsidiaries of listed holding companies  
 where applicable).

4. The Company has prepared a “Code of Conduct” and has ensured that appropriate steps have been  
 taken to disseminate it throughout the Company along with its supporting policies and procedures.

5. The Board has developed vision / mission statement, overall corporate strategy and significant  
 policies of the Company. A complete record of particulars of significant policies along with the dates  
 on which they were approved or amended has been maintained.

6. All the powers of the Board have been duly exercised and decisions on relevant matters have been  
 taken by the Board/Shareholders as empowered by the relevant provisions of the Act and these  
 regulations. 

7. The meetings of the Board were presided over by the Chairman and, in his absence, by a director  
 elected by the Board for this purpose. The Board has complied with the requirements of the Act and  
 the Regulations with respect to frequency, recording and circulating minutes of meeting of Board.

8. The Board of directors have a formal and transparent procedures for remuneration of directors in  
 accordance with the Act and these Regulations.

Category

Independent Directors

Executive Directors

Non-Executive Directors

Name
1) Ali Kamal
2) Faraz Younus Bandukda
3) Saeed Fatima Naqvi
1) Yakoob Haji Karim
2) Noman Yakoob
1) Anwar Haji Karim
2) Sajid Haroon
3) Abid Umer
4) Muhammad Ahmed Aslam
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LISTED COMPANIES (CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2017
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019  
9. The Board has arranged directors’ training program for the following.
  a. Mr. Noman Yakoob
  b. Mr. Ali Kamal

10. The Board had approved appointment of CFO, Company Secretary and Head of Internal Audit  
 including their remuneration and terms and conditions of employment and complied with  
 relevant requirements of the Regulations.

11. CFO and CEO duly endorsed the financial statements before approval of the Board

12. The Board has formed committees comprising of members given below:
 
 Audit Committee: 
 Mr. Ali Kamal     Chairman 
 Mr. Abid Umer and    Member
 Mr. Sajid Haroon  Member
 
 HR and Remuneration Committee: 
 Mr. Ali Kamal    Chairman 
 Mr. Sajid Haroon and    Member 
 Mr. Noman Yakoob   Member

13. The terms of reference of the aforesaid committees have been formed, documented and advised  
 to the committee for compliance. 

14. The frequency of meetings (quarterly/half yearly/ yearly) of the committee were as per following:
 a)   Audit Committee – Four (04) 
 b)   HR and Remuneration Committee – One (1)

15. The Board has set up an effective internal audit function that is considered suitably qualified and  
 experienced for the purpose and is conversant with policies and procedures of the Company.

16. The statutory auditors of the Company have confirmed that they have been given a satisfactory  
 rating under the quality control review programme of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of  
 Pakistan (ICAP) and registered with Audit Oversight Board of Pakistan, that they or any of the  
 partners of the firm, their spouses and minor children do not hold shares of the Company and  
 that the firm and all its partners are in compliance with International Federation of Accountants  
 (IFAC) guidelines on code of ethics as adopted by the ICAP
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
 

17. The statutory auditors or the persons associated with them have not been appointed to  
 provide other services except in accordance with the Act, these regulations or any other  
 regulatory requirement and the auditors have confirmed that they have observed IFAC  
 guidelines in this regard.

18. The Company continued to present the details of all related party transactions as disclosed  
 in the financial statements before the Board Audit Committee and upon their recommendation  
 to the Board for review and approval. The Company also has in place a process to identify  
 the related parties and related transactions entered into with them. However, full compliance of  
 the requirements as laid down in Section 208 of the Companies Act, 2017 is dependent on  
 clarification from SECP with respect to definition of related parties.

19. We confirm that all other material principles enshrined in the Code have been complied with.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH LISTED COMPANIES (CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE) REGULATIONS, 2017
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

YAKOOB HAJI KARIM
Chief Executive

ANWAR HAJI KARIM
Chairman

Karachi
Date: 19 September 2019



Pakistan Synthetics Limited
 

We have reviewed the enclosed Statement of Compliance with the Listed Companies (Code of Corporate 
Governance) Regulations, 2017 (“the Regulations”) prepared by the Board of Directors of Pakistan 
Synthetics Limited (“the Company”) for the year ended 30 June 2019 to comply with the requirements of 
regulation 40 of the Regulations.

The responsibility for compliance with the Regulations is that of the Board of Directors of the Company. 
Our responsibility is to review whether the Statement of Compliance reflects the status of the Company’s 
compliance with the provisions of the Regulations and report if it does not and to highlight any non-compliance 
with the requirements of the Regulations. A review is limited primarily to inquiries of the Company’s 
personnel and review of various documents prepared by the Company to comply with the Regulations.

As a part of our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain an understanding of the 
accounting and internal control systems sufficient to plan the audit and develop an effective audit 
approach. We are not required to consider whether the Board of Directors’ statement on internal control 
covers all risks and controls or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of such internal controls, the Company’s 
corporate governance procedures and risks.

The Regulations require the Company to place before the Audit Committee, and upon recommendation of 
the Audit Committee, place before the Board of Directors for their review and approval, its related party 
transactions and also ensure compliance with the requirements of section 208 of the Companies Act, 2017. 
We are only required and have ensured compliance of this requirement to the extent of the approval of the 
related party transactions by the Board of Directors upon recommendation of the Audit Committee. We 
have not carried out procedures to assess and determine the Company’s process for identification of related 
parties and that whether the related party transactions were undertaken at arm’s length price or not.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that the Statement of 
Compliance does not appropriately reflect the Company's compliance, in all material respects, with the 
requirements contained in the Regulations as applicable to the Company for the year ended 30 June 2019.

   
Dated: 27 September 2019
Karachi
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To the members of Pakistan Synthetics Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the annexed financial statements of Pakistan Synthetics Limited (the Company), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2019, and the statement of profit or loss, the statement 
of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and we state that we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of the audit.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the statement of 
financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 
changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes forming part thereof conform with 
the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017), in the manner so required and respectively give a true and fair view of 
the state of the Company's affairs as at 30 June 2019 and of the loss and other comprehensive loss, the 
changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as applicable in 
Pakistan. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities 
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants as adopted by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan (the Code) and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Following are the Key audit matters: 

S 
No. 

Key audit matters  How the matters were addressed in 
our audit  

 1. Revenue recognition

Refer notes 3.1, 4.9 and 24 to the 
financial statements.
The Company is engaged in sales of 
different products namely Plastic 
caps, Crown Caps, PET Resin, 
BoPET resin and Preform. The Company 
generates revenue from sale of goods 
to various customers. 

The Company generated revenue of 
Rs. 7,024.935 million which constitutes 
70% revenue i.e. Rs. 4,896.348 
million from the sales of PET and 
BoPET resin, 26% revenue i.e. Rs. 
1,839.869 million from the sales of 
crown and plastic caps and remaining 
4% from the sales of preform.

We identified revenue recognition as 
key audit matter because recognition 
of sales in the appropriate period is 
subject to the point in time when 
control of goods is transferred to the 
customers. Therefore, there could be 
potential risk that revenue transactions 
may not recorded in the appropriate 
accounting period.

Our audit procedures in relation to 
recognition of revenue, amongst 
others, included the following:

• obtaining an understanding  
 of and testing the design  
 and operating effectiveness  
 of controls designed to   
 ensure that revenue is   
 recognized in the appropriate  
 accounting period based  
 on at prevailing agreed   
 price;

• assessing the appropriateness  
 of the Company’s   
 accounting policies for   
 revenue recognition and  
 compliance of those policies  
 with applicable accounting  
 and reporting standards as  
 applicable in Pakistan; and 

• testing revenue transactions  
 recorded before and subsequent  
 to the reporting period on a  
 sample basis to assess   
 whether the revenue transactions  
 are recorded in appropriate  
 period based on underlying  
 documents.



 
Pakistan Synthetics Limited
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

2 Valuation of Trade Receivables. 

Refer notes 4.2.1 and 12 to the 
financial statements 

As at 30 June 2019, the Company’s 
gross trade receivables amounted to 
Rs. 1,202.645 million against which 
provision for doubtful receivables 
amounting to Rs. 251.180 million 
have been recorded which has been 
determined based on loss allowance 
for expected credit loss (ECL) 
model.

The ECL model has been adopted 
during the year due to the application 
of IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments). 
Provision for doubtful receivables 
while using ECL is based on 
management judgment and 
estimates involving default rate 
based on credit history of the 
customers, experience of recovery 
period, customer-specific conditions 
and forward looking information.

We identified valuation of trade 
receivables as a key audit matter as 
it involves significant management 
judgment in determining the expected 
loss allowance and specific write 
off. 

Our audit procedures in relation to 
valuation of trade receivables, 
amongst others, included the 
following:

• obtaining an  understanding  
 of the management’s basis  
 for the determination of the  
 provision required at the  
 year end and the receiables  
 collection process;

• assessing, on a sample   
 basis, whether items in the  
 trade receivables’ ageing  
 report were classified within  
 the appropriate ageing   
 bracket by comparing   
 individual items in the   
 report with underlying   
 documentation, which   
 included sales invoices and  
 goods delivery notes;

• Involving a specialist to   
 assess the adequacy and  
 appropriateness of assumptions,  
 basis and estimation used  
 by management to determine  
 the loss allowance while  
 using ECL.

• Assessing the adequacy of     
 adjustments and
 appropriateness of disclosures  
 presented in the financial  
 statements in accordance  
 with the requirements of  
 IFRS 9.
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Company’s Annual Report for 30 June 2019 but does not include the financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
then we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan and the requirements of Companies Act,
2017 (XIX of 2017) and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs as applicable in Pakistan, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud  
 or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence  
 that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material  
 misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve  
 collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures  
 that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the  
 effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting  
 estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,  
 based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or  
 conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’  
 report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to  
 modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our  
 auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue  
 as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the  
 disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in  
 a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical require-
ments regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT



 
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclo-
sure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our audit, we further report that in our opinion:

a) proper books of account have been kept by the Company as required by the Companies Act, 2017  
 (XIX of 2017);

b) the statement of financial position, the statement of profit or loss, the statement of comprehensive  
 income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows together with the notes  
 thereon have been drawn up in conformity with the Companies Act, 2017 (XIX of 2017) and are in  
 agreement with the books of account;

c) investments made, expenditure incurred and guarantees extended during the year were for the  
 purpose of the Company’s business; and

d) no zakat was deductible at source under the Zakat and Ushr Ordinance, 1980 (XVIII of 1980).

 The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Muhammad  
 Nadeem.

   
Dated: 27 September 2019
Karachi
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ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Long term loan to employees - secured
Long term deposits and prepayments
Deferred taxation

Current assets
Stores and spares
Stock-in-trade
Trade receivables
Loans and advances
Short term deposits and prepayments
Other receivables
Taxation - net
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders' equity
Authorised capital of 70,000,000
  ordinary shares of Rs. 10 each

Issued, subscribed and paid-up capital 
General reserve
Unappropriated profit

Non-current liabilities
Long term finance - secured
Staff retirement benefits
Long term payables - secured

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Accrued mark-up
Short term borrowings - secured
Unclaimed dividend
Current portion of long term finance
Current portion of long term payable

Total equity and liabilities

Contingencies and commitments 

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

16 

17 

18 
19 
20 

21 

22 

18 
20 

23 

 2,166,193 
 421 

 3,575 
 5,163 

 187,935 
 2,363,287 

 248,454 
 1,866,070 

 951,465 
 12,841 

 8,331 
 2,084 

 440,016 
 41,270 

 3,570,531 

 5,933,818 

 700,000 

 560,400 
 292,450 
 343,164 

 1,196,014 

126,035 
 30,925 

 -   
 156,960 

 1,110,554 
 21,971 

 2,432,290 
 4,223 

 403,420 
 608,386 

 4,580,844 

 5,933,818 

 2,195,300 
 842 

 4,526 
 4,362 

 108,439 
 2,313,469 

 201,674 
 2,250,892 

 644,967 
 17,039 
 22,344 

 107,183 
 437,875 

 64,258 
 3,746,232 

 6,059,701 

 700,000 

 560,400 
 292,450 
 482,823 

 1,335,673 

 377,853 
 23,834 

 572,423 
 974,110 

 1,504,425 
 21,779 

 2,012,587 
 16,847 

 194,280 
 -   

 3,749,918 

 6,059,701 

Note 2019
(RUPEES IN ‘000)

2018

YAKOOB HAJI KARIM
Chief Executive

ANWAR HAJI KARIM
Director

SALEEM ADVANI
Chief Financial Officer

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

9

32



YAKOOB HAJI KARIM
Chief Executive

ANWAR HAJI KARIM
Director

SALEEM ADVANI
Chief Financial Officer

Net sales      
      
Cost of sales      
Gross profit       
      
Distribution and selling costs      
Administration and general expenses      
Impairment loss on trade receivables      
Other operating expenses      
      
      
      
      
Other income       
Operating profit before finance costs      
      
Finance costs      
      
(Loss) / profit before taxation      
      
Taxation      
      
(Loss) / profit after taxation from continuing operation      
      
Profit / (loss) after taxation from discontinued operation      
      
(Loss) / profit for the year      
      
      
      
(Loss) / earnings per share - basic and diluted      
      
      
The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
Statement of Profit or Loss
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

24

25

26
27
12 
28

29

30

31

32

33

 7,024,935 

 (6,353,221)
 671,714 

 (81,031)
 (58,911)

 (8,481)
 (354,176)
 (502,599)

 169,115 

 9,227 
 178,342 

 (328,778)

 (150,436)

 26,274 

 (124,162)

 261 

 (123,901)

 (2.21)

 5,252,627 

 (4,682,668)
 569,959 

 (75,884)
 (50,121)

 (1,832)
 (175,295)
 (303,132)

 266,827 

 21,818 
 288,645 

 (205,203)

 83,442 

 67,054 

 150,496 

 (33,539)

 116,957 

 2.09 

Note 2019
(RUPEES IN ‘000)

(RUPEES)

2018
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YAKOOB HAJI KARIM
Chief Executive

ANWAR HAJI KARIM
Director

SALEEM ADVANI
Chief Financial Officer

(Loss) / profit for the year

     

Items that will never be reclassified to statement of profit or loss   

     

Remeasurements of defined benefit liability     

Tax thereon     

     

     

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year

       

       

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
Statement of Comprehensive Income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

(123,901)

 (3,113)

 903 

 (2,210)

(126,111)

116,957 

 (4,565)

 1,370 

 (3,195)

113,762 

2019
(RUPEES IN ‘000)

2018
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Balance as at 1 July 2017  
  
Total comprehensive income for   
the year ended 30 June 2018  
  
Profit for the year   
Other comprehensive loss  
  
  
Balance as at 30 June 2018  
  
Adjustment on initial application of   
   IFRS 9, net of tax  
  
Adjusted balance as at 01 July 2018  
  
Total comprehensive income for  
the year ended 30 June 2019  
  
Loss for the year  
Other comprehensive loss  
  
  
Balance as at 30 June 2019  

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

 560,400 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 560,400 

 -   

 560,400 

 -   
 -   
 -   

 560,400 

 292,450 

 -   
 -   
 -   

292,450

 -   

292,450

 
-  
-  
-  

 
292,450 

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Issued,
subscribed 
and paid-up 

capital

General
reserve

Unappropriated
profit

(RUPEES IN ‘000)

Total
reserves

Total

 369,061 

 116,957 
 (3,195)

 113,762 

 482,823 

 (13,548)

 469,275 

 (123,901)
 (2,210)

 (126,111)

 343,164 

 661,511 

 116,957 
 (3,195)

 113,762 

 775,273 

 (13,548)

 761,725 

 (123,901)
 (2,210)

 (126,111)

 635,614 

 1,221,911 

 116,957 
 (3,195)

 113,762 

 1,335,673 

 (13,548)

 1,322,125 

 (123,901)
 (2,210)

 (126,111)

 1,196,014 
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019 Note 2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) / profit before taxation     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation     
Charge for staff gratuity     
Amortization     
Gain on revaluation of derivative financial assets     
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment     
Profit on saving and deposit accounts     
Unrealised exchange loss     
Finance costs     
Ijarah rental     
Provision / (reversal) against slow moving and obsolete stock     
Provision for doubtful advances - net     
Provision for doubtful debts and deposits - net 
     
Changes in:  
Working capital changes    
Long term deposit - net    
Long term payables    
Long term loan to employees - net    
Cash generated from operations     
    
Staff gratuity paid    
Financial charges paid    
Taxes paid    
Net cash (used in) / from operating activities
     
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditure including intangible assets     
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment     
Profit on saving accounts received     
Net cash (used in) investing activities     
     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Long term diminishing musharka - net     
Short term foreign currency loan and money market loan - net     
Short term istisna and murabaha - net     
Dividend paid     
Net cash from / (used in) financing activities     
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
   
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS COMPRISE
Cash and bank balances    
Running finance under mark-up arrangement    

The annexed notes 1 to 42 form an integral part of these financial statements.

 38

38

16
22

 (150,084)

 230,087 
 6,772 

 421 
 -   

 (1,496)
 (8)

 188,011 
 324,150 

 339 
 (3,336)
 2,322 
 8,481 

 605,659 

 (315,675)
 (801)

 (102,277)
 951 

 187,857 

 (2,794)
 (323,958)

 (49,018)
 (187,913)

 (201,234)
 1,750 

 8 
 (199,476)

 (42,678)
 (100,000)
 758,731 
 (12,624)
 603,429 
 216,040 

 (365,451)
 (149,411)

 41,270 
 (190,681)
 (149,411)

 36,920 

 189,816 
 4,079 

 421 
 (42,557)

 -   
 (3)

 110,677 
 200,757 

 -   
 5,252 
 1,474 

 50,766 
 557,602 

 68,050 
 (3,597)

 514,391 
 (555)

 1,135,891 

 (1,698)
 (191,469)

 (81,753)
 860,971 

 (848,691)
 43 

 3 
 (848,645)

 142,316 
 (403,435)

 9,670 
 (22,412)

 (273,861)
 (261,535)

 (103,916)
 (365,451)

 64,258 
 (429,709)
 (365,451)

(RUPEES IN ‘000)

YAKOOB HAJI KARIM
Chief Executive

ANWAR HAJI KARIM
Director

SALEEM ADVANI
Chief Financial Officer
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1. STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS      

 Pakistan Synthetics Limited (the Company) was incorporated on 18 November 1984 as a private  
 limited company in Pakistan and subsequently converted into a public limited company on 30  
 December 1987. The shares of the Company are listed on Pakistan Stock Exchange with effect  
 from 27 June 1995. The principal activity of the Company is manufacturing and sale of Plastic  
 Caps and Crown Caps, PET resin and BOPET resin. The registered office of the Company is  
 situated at 3rd floor, K.D.L.B, building 58 West Wharf, Karachi.

 Further, PET preform manufacturing plant of the Company commenced commercial production  
 on 16 May, 2018.          
          
 The manufacturing facility of the Company is situated at F-1,2,3 and 13,14 & 15, Hub Industrial  
 Trading Estate, District Lasbella Balochistan and Plot No. A-5, N.W.I.Z, Port Qasim Authority,  
 Karachi having sales offices located at Karachi.        
  
2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting  
 standards as applicable in Pakistan. The accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistan  
 comprise of:

 - International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) issued by the International  
  Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and  
       
 - Islamic Financial Accounting Standards (IFAS) issued by the Institute of Chartered  
  Accountants of Pakistan as notified under the Companies Act, 2017; and    
 
 - Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act 2017.     

 Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act 2017 differ from IFRS Standards  
 or IFAS, the provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act 2017 have been followed.  

2.2 Basis of measurement

 These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the 
 Company's liability under defined benefit plan (gratuity) which is determined based on the present  
 value of defined benefit obligation.         

2.3 Functional and presentation currency

 These financial statements are presented in Pakistan Rupees which is Company's functional  
 currency. All financial information presented in Pakistan Rupees has been rounded to the nearest  
 thousand of rupees, unless otherwise stated.        
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 2.4 Use of estimates and judgments

 In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgment, estimates and  
 assumptions that affect the application of the Company's accounting policies and the reported  
 amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these  
 estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to  
 estimates are recognized prospectively. Information about judgments made in applying accounting  
 policies that have the most significant effects on the amount recognized in the financial statements  
 to the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities and assumptions and estimation uncertainties  
 that have a significant risk resulting in a material adjustment in the subsequent year are set forth  
 below:          

i) Employee benefits (refer note 4.1)         
ii) Income taxes (refer note 4.3)         
iii) Property, plant and equipment (refer note 4.4)        
iv) Intangible assets (refer note 4.5)         
v) Stores and spares(refer note 4.6)         
vi) Stock in trade (refer note 4.7)         
vii) Impairment (refer note 4.2.1.7 and 4.8)         
viii) Provisions (refer note 4.11)         

2.5 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published approved accounting standards that are  
 not yet effective:

 The following International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS Standards) as notified under  
 the Companies Act, 2017 and the amendments and interpretations thereto will be effective for  
 accounting periods beginning on or after 01 July 2019:       

 - IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’ (effective for annual periods beginning  
  on or after 1 January 2019) clarifies the accounting for income tax when there is uncertainty  
  over income tax treatments under IAS 12. The interpretation requires the uncertainty over tax  
  treatment be reflected in the measurement of current and deferred tax. The application of  
  interpretation is not likely to have an impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

 - IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019).   
  IFRS 16 replaces existing leasing guidance, including IAS 17 ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4 ‘Determining  
  whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC-15 ‘Operating Leases- Incentives’ and  
  SIC-27 ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease’.  
  IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessee. A lessee  
  recognizes a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying asset and a  
  lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. There are recognition  
  exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting  
  remains similar to the current standard i.e. lessors continue to classify leases as finance  
  or operating leases. The Company is currently in the process of analysing the potential  
  impact of its lease arrangements that will result in recognition of right to use assets and  
  lease liabilities on adoption of the standard.       
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 - Amendment to IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ – Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation  

 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). For a debt instrument to be  
 eligible for measurement at amortised cost or FVOCI, IFRS 9 requires its contractual cash flows  
 to meet the SPPI criterion – i.e. the cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and interest’.  
 Some prepayment options could result in the party that triggers the early termination receiving  
 compensation from the other party (negative compensation). The amendment allows that financial  
 assets containing prepayment features with negative compensation can be measured at amortised  
 cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) if they meet the other relevant  
 requirements of IFRS 9. The application of amendment is not likely to have an impact on the Company’s  
 financial statements.         

-  Amendment to IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ - Long Term Interests in  
 Associates and Joint Ventures (effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019).  
 The amendment will affect companies that finance such entities with preference shares or with  
 loans for which repayment is not expected in the foreseeable future (referred to as long-term  
 interests or ‘LTI’). The amendment and accompanying example state that LTI are in the scope of  
 both IFRS 9 and IAS 28 and explain the annual sequence in which both standards are to be  
 applied. The amendments is not likely to have an impact on the Company’s financial statements.

- Amendments to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’- Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement  
 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments clarify  
 that on amendment, curtailment or settlement of a defined benefit plan, a company now uses  
 updated actuarial assumptions to determine its current service cost and net interest for the  
 period; and the effect of the asset ceiling is disregarded when calculating the gain or loss on  
 any settlement of the plan and is dealt with separately in other comprehensive income. The  
 application of amendments is not likely to have an impact on Company’s financial statements.

- Amendment to IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ – Definition of a Business (effective for business  
 combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of annual period beginning  
 on or after 1 January 2020). The IASB has issued amendments aiming to resolve the difficulties  
 that arise when an entity determines whether it has acquired a business or a group of assets. The  
 amendments clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must  
 include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute  
 to the ability to create outputs. The amendments include an election to use a concentration test.  
 The standard is effective for transactions in the future and therefore would not have an impact on  
 past financial statements.    

- Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies,  
 Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors  (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
 1 January 2020). The amendments are intended to make the definition of material in IAS 1 easier  
 to understand and are not intended to alter the underlying concept of materiality in IFRS Standards.  
 In addition, the IASB has also issued guidance on how to make materiality judgments when  
 preparing their general purpose financial statements in accordance with IFRS Standards.  
              
 On 29 March 2018, the International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) has issued a  
 revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting which is applicable immediately  
 contains changes that will set a new direction for IFRS in the future. The Conceptual Framework  
 primarily serves as a tool for the IASB to develop standards and to assist the IFRS Interpretations  
 Committee in interpreting them. It does not override the requirements of individual IFRSs and  
 any inconsistencies with the revised Framework will be subject to the usual due process – this  
 means that the overall impact on standard setting may take some time to crystallise. The Company  
 may use the Framework as a reference for selecting their accounting policies in the absence of  
 specific IFRS requirements. In these cases, the Company should review those policies and apply  
 the new guidance retrospectively as of 1 January 2020, unless the new guidance contains specific  
 scope outs.         
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 - Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle - the improvements address amendments  

 to following approved accounting standards:     
 
 - IFRS 3 Business Combinations and IFRS 11 Joint Arrangement - the amendment aims to  
  clarify the accounting treatment when a entity increases its interest in a joint operation  
  that meets the definition of a business. A entity remeasures its previously held interest in  
  a joint operation when it obtains control of the business. A entity does not remeasure its  
  previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains joint control of the business.  
    
 - IAS 12 Income Taxes - the amendment clarifies that all income tax consequences of  
  dividends (including payments on financial instruments classified as equity) are recognized  
  consistently with the transaction that generates the distributable profits.    
     
 - IAS 23 Borrowing Costs - the amendment clarifies that a entity treats as part of general  
  borrowings any borrowing originally made to develop an asset when the asset is ready  
  for its intended use or sale.        
 
 The above amendments are effective from annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019  
 and are not likely to have an impact on the Company's financial statements.

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES        

 The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements have  
 been consistently applied to all periods presented except for the change in accounting policies  
 as stated below. A number of other new standards are effective from 01 July 2018 but they do  
 not have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

 The Company has adopted IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and IFRS 9  
 ‘Financial Instruments’ from 01 July 2018 which are effective for annual periods beginning on  
 or after 01 July 2018 and for reporting period / year ending on or after 30 June 2019 respectively.  
 The Company has also adopted consequential amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 7 as a result of  
 adoption of  IFRS 9.

 The key changes to the Company's accounting policies resulting from adoption of IFRS 15 and  
 IFRS 9 are summarized below:          

3.1  IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’       
   
 On 28 May 2014, the International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") issued International  
 Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") 15 "Revenue From Contracts with Customers" which  
 provides a unified five-step model for determining the timing, measurement and recognition of  
 revenue. The focus of the new standard is to recognize revenue as performance obligations are  
 made rather than based on the transfer of risk and rewards. IFRS 15 includes a comprehensive  
 set of disclosure requirements including qualitative and quantitative information about  
 contracts with customers to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue. The  
 standard supersedes IAS 18 "Revenue", IAS 11 "Construction Contracts" and the number of  
 revenue related interpretations.         
 
 The Company manufactures and contracts with customers for the sale of Plastic caps, Crown  
 caps, PET Resin, BoPET Resin and Preform which generally include single performance obligation.  
 Management has concluded that revenue from sale of goods be recognised at the point in time  
 when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, which is when the goods are dispatched  
 to the customer. Invoices are generated and revenue is recognised at that point in time, as the  
 risks of loss have been transferred to the customers. The above is generally consistent with the  
 timing and amounts of revenue the Company recognised in accordance with the previous standard,  
 IAS 18. Accordingly, there is no impact on comparative information.     
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 3.2  IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' 

 IFRS 9 sets out requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and  
 some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39 'Financial Instruments:  
 Recognition and Measurement'. The new standard brings fundamental changes to the accounting for  
 financial assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for financial liabilities.

 As a result of the adoption of IFRS 9, the Company has adopted consequential amendments to IAS 1  
 'Presentation of Financial Statements', which require impairment of financial assets to be presented  
 in a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss. Previously, the Company's approach was to  
 include the impairment of trade receivables in administration and general expenses. Consequently, the  
 Company reclassified impairment losses amounting to Rs. 1.832 million, recognised under IAS 39,  
 from 'administration and general expenses' to 'impairment loss on trade receivables' in the statement  
 of profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2018.        
  
 Additionally, the Company has adopted consequential amendments to IFRS 7 'Financial Instruments:  
 Disclosures' that are applied to disclosures for the year ended 30 June 2019 but have not been generally  
 applied to comparative information.

 The key changes to the Company’s accounting policies resulting from its adoption of IFRS 9 are  
 summarised below:
          
 i. Classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities

  IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at  
  amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value  
  through profit or loss (FVTPL).

  IFRS 9 classification is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is  
  managed and its contractual cash flows. The standard eliminates the previous IAS 39  
  categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and available for sale.

  IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the classification and measurement  
  of financial liabilities therefore its adoption did not have a significant effect on the Company’s  
  accounting policies related to financial liabilities.

  For an explanation of how the Company classifies financial assets under IFRS 9, see note 4.2  
  tothe financial statements.         

 ii. Impairment of financial assets         

  In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss  
  model, as opposed to an incurred loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model  
  requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit  
  losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In  
  other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses  
  are recognized. The Company has classified its financial assets as measured at: amortised  
  cost. IFRS 9 has scoped out impairment for financial assets measured at 'fair value through  
  profit or loss' where as for financial assets measured at amortised cost there are impairment  
  requirements.         
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 The Company applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime 

expected loss allowance for all trade and other receivables. Impairment losses related to trade and other 
receivables, are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss. Trade and other receivables are 
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Management used actual credit loss experience 
over past years to base the calculation of ECL on adoption of IFRS 9.

For assets in the scope of IFRS 9 impairment model, impairment losses are generally expected to increase 
and become more volatile. The Company has determined that the application of IFRS 9's impairment requirements 
at 01 July 2018 results in an additional allowance for impairment as follows:

Loss Allowances at 30 June 2018 under IAS 39      
Long term deposits      
Trade receivables      
      
Additional impairment recognised at 01 July 2018 on      
trade receivables as at 30 June 2018 (Rs. 13.548 million net of tax)*      

Loss Allowances at 01 July 2018 under IFRS 9      

* Defered tax asset of Rs 5.533 million was recogised in respect of additional impairment recognised at 01 
July 2018 on trade receivables as at 30 June 2018. Resultantly, deferred tax asset increased from Rs 108.439 
million as at 30 June 2018 to Rs. 113.972 million as at 01 July 2018      
   

(RUPEES IN ‘000)

 1,094 
 223,618 
 224,712 

19,081 

 243,793 
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iii. Change in classification of financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of initial
 application of IFRS 9        

 The following table and the accompanying notes below explain the original measurement categories
 under IAS 39 and the new measurement categories under IFRS 9 for each class of the Company's
 financial assets and financial liabilities as at 1 July 2018.     
          
 The effect of adopting IFRS 9 on the carrying amounts of financial assets at 01 July 2018 relates
 solely to the new impairment requirements.       

(a) These financial assets were originally classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39 and
 are now classified as measured at amortised cost under IFRS 9.

iv. Transition 

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
 

Note Original 
classification
under IAS 39

New 
classification
under IFRS 9

Original 
carrying 
amount 

under IAS 39

Remeasure
ment

New carrying 
amount 

under IFRS 9

FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss
Loan to employees (a) Loans and receivables Amortised cost 6,122            -              6,122            

Long / short term
deposits (a) Loans and receivables Amortised cost 8,668           -              8,668            

Trade receivables (a) Loans and receivables Amortised cost 644,967       (19,081)       625,886        

Other receivables (a) Loans and receivables Amortised cost 45,871         -              45,871          

Cash and bank
balances (a) Loans and receivables Amortised cost 64,258         -              64,258          

769,886        (19,081)       750,805        

FFiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess
Long term finance -

secured Amortised cost Amortised cost 572,133        -              572,133        

Long term payables -
secured Amortised cost Amortised cost 572,423       -              572,423        

Trade and other
payables Amortised cost Amortised cost 1,290,087    -              1,290,087     

Accrued markup Amortised cost Amortised cost 21,779         -              21,779          

Short term
borrowings - secured Amortised cost Amortised cost 2,012,587     -              2,012,587     

4,469,009    -              4,469,009     

------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------

The Company has used an exemption not to restate comparative information for prior periods with
respect to classification and measurement (including impairment) requirements. Therefore, differences
in the carrying amounts of financial assets resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognised in
unappropriated profit as at 01 July 2018. Accordingly, the information presented for 2018 does not
generally reflect the requirements of IFRS 9, but rather those of IAS 39.    
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 4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES     

 The Company has consistently applied the following accounting policies to all periods presented in  
 these financial statements, except if mentioned otherwise (refer note 3).     
 
4.1 Employee benefits

 Defined benefit scheme

 The Company operates an unfunded Gratuity Scheme (the Plan) for eligible employees of the Company.  
 The Company's obligation under the scheme is determined through actuarial valuation carried out at  
 each year end under the Projected Unit Credit Method. Remeasurements which comprise actuarial  
 gains and losses are recognized immediately in statement of comprehensive income. The Company  
 determines the net interest expense on the net defined benefit liability for the period by applying the  
 discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to  
 the then defined benefit liability, taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability  
 during the period as a result of contribution and benefit payments. Interest cost and current service  
 cost are recognized in statement of profit or loss. The latest actuarial valuation was conducted at the  
 balance sheet date by a qualified professional firm of actuaries.   

 Compensated absences   

 The Company accounts for its liability towards accumulated compensated absences for the permanent  
 employees as per the service rules of the Company.       

4.2 Financial instruments     
      
4.2.1 Financial assets     
      
4.2.1.1 Classification      
      
4.2.1.1.1 Policies applicable before 01 July 2018

 The management determined the appropriate classification of its financial assets in accordance with  
 the requirements of International Accounting Standard 39 (IAS 39) 'Financial Instruments: Recognition  
 and Measurement' at the time of purchase of financial assets. The financial assets of the Company  
 were categorised as follows:         

 a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

  A financial asset was classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it was classified as  
  held for trading or was designated as such on initial recognition. Financial assets that were  
  acquired principally for the purpose of generating profit from short-term fluctuations in prices  
  were classified in 'financial assets at fair value through profit or loss' category.    
    
 b) Loans and receivables        
         
  These were non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that were not  
  quoted in an active market. The Company's loans and receivables comprised of trade  
  debts, loans and advances, deposits, other receivables and cash and bank balances in  
  the balance sheet.        
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  c) Held-to-maturity  

  These were financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity for which  
  the Company had the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity.    

 d) Available-for-sale financial assets

  Financial assets intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which could be sold in  
  response to needs for liquidity or changes in equity prices, were classified as 'available for  
  sale'. Available for sale financial instruments were those non-derivative financial assets that  
  were designated as available for sale or were not classified either as (a) financial assets at fair  
  value through profit or loss; (b) loans and receivables or (c) held to maturity.   

4.2.1.1.2 Policies applicable from 01 July 2018         

 On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.  

 A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not  
 designated as at FVTPL:         
         
 -  it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash  
  flows; and
        
 -  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of  
  principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as  
 at FVTPL:         
         
 -  it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual  
  cash flows and selling financial assets; and       
 
         
 -  its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of  
  principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

 On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Company may irrevocably  
 elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This election is made on an  
 investment-by-investment basis.          

 All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are  
 measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset  
 that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI or at FVTPL if  
 doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

 Business model assessment         

 The Company's financial assets comprise of loans and receivables, the assessment of business model  
 for other financial assets is made on a portfolio / asset basis. The information considered in making this  
 assessment includes:
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 -  the stated policies and objectives for the asset and the operation of those policies in practice. In  

 particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining  
 a particular interest rate profile or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;   

-  how the performance of the portfolio / asset is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management; 
       
-  the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that  
 business model) and its strategy for how those risks are managed;      
  
-  how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value  
 of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and     
   
-  the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its  
 expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered  
 in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Company’s stated objective for managing  
 the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows are realised.      
  
Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value 
basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both 
to collect contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest   
      
For the purposes of this assessment on debt securities, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial 
asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the 
credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other 
basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and "administrative costs), as well as profit margin.  
       
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the contractual terms of 
the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset  contains a contractual term that could 
change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making 
the assessment, the Company considers:      
         
-  contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;     
-  leverage features;        
-  prepayment and extension terms;        
-  terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse   
 loans); and        
-  features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of   
 interest rates).        
         
On the basis of above assessment the Company determined that Held-to-collect business model is relevant for 
the Company as its financial assets comprise of only cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. 
These financial assets are held to collect contractual cash flow.      
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 4.2.1.2 Reclassifications

 Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period after  
 the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.     
   
4.2.1.3 Initial recognition and measurement     

 All financial assets are recognised at the time the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions  
 of the instrument. Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of financial  
 assets not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the  
 acquisition of the financial assets.         
 
4.2.1.4 Subsequent measurement

4.2.1.4.1 Policies applicable before 01 July 2018    
    
 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets were valued as follows:

a) 'Financials asset at fair value through profit or loss' and 'available-for-sale'

 A financial asset was classified as at fair value through profit or loss if it was classified as held for  
 trading or was designated as such on initial recognition. Financial assets that were acquired principally  
 for the purpose of generating profit from short-term fluctuations in prices were classified in 'financial  
 assets at fair value through profit or loss' category.        
 
 Financial assets intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, which could be sold in response  
 to needs for liquidity or changes in equity prices, were classified as 'available for sale'. Available for  
 sale financial instruments were those non-derivative financial assets that were designated as available for  
 sale or were not classified either as (a) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; (b) loans  
 and receivables or (c) held to maturity.        

b)  'Loans and receivables' and 'held-to-maturity'    
 
 Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity financial assets were carried at amortised cost.   

4.2.1.4.2 Policies applicable from 01 July 2018         

Financial assets
  measured at
  amortized cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. The amortized cost is reduced by impairment
losses. Interest / mark-up income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets at  
  FVTPL  

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and
losses, including any interest / mark-up or dividend income, are
recognized in profit or loss.

Equity Investments   
  at FVOCI  

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
recognized as income in the statement of profit or loss unless the
dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Other net gains and losses are recognized in other
comprehensive income and are never reclassified to the statement of
profit or loss.     
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4.2.1.5 Trade debts, loans and advances, deposits and other receivables       

4.2.1.5.1 Policies applicable before 01 July 2018      

 These were classified as loans and receivables and were recognised initially at fair value and subsequently  
 measured at amortised cost or cost, as the case may be, less provision for impairment, if any. A provision  
 for impairment was established when there was an objective evidence that the Company would not  
 be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Items considered  
 irrecoverable were written off.          

4.2.1.5.2 Policies applicable from 01 July 2018    

 These are classified at amortized cost and are initially recognised when they are originated and  
 measured at fair value of consideration receivable. These assets are written off when there is no  
 reasonable expectation of recovery. Actual credit loss experience over past years is used to base the  
 calculation of expected credit loss. 

4.2.1.6 Cash and cash equivalents        
         
 Cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purposes include cash in hand and balances held with banks  
 and short term running finance availed by the Company, which are payable on demand and form an  
 integral part of the Company’s cash management.       
 
4.2.1.7 Impairment        
         
4.2.1.7.1 Policies applicable before 01 July 2018        
         
 Financial assets        
         
 A financial asset was assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there was any objective  
 evidence that it was impaired. A financial asset was considered to be impaired if objective evidence  
 indicated that one or more events had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that  
 asset.        
         
 Individually significant financial assets were tested for impairment on an individual basis. The  
 remaining financial assets were assessed collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.  
 All impairment losses were recognised in statement of profit or loss. An impairment loss was  
 reversed if the reversal could be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss  
 was recognised.            
    

Debt Investments   
 at FVOCI  

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest / 
mark-up income calculated using the effective interest method, foreign  
exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognized in the
statement of profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognized in
other comprehensive income. On de-recognition, gains and losses
accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the
statement of profit or loss.     
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 4.2.1.7.2 Policies applicable from 01 July 2018    

 The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs in respect of financial assets measured at amortised  
 cost.         
         
 The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,  
 which are measured at 12-month ECLs:         

 -  debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and  
      
 -  other debt securities and bank balance for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring  
  over the expected life of the financial instrument) has not increased significantly since initial  
  recognition.

 Loss allowances for trade and other receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime  
 ECLs.         
 
 When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial  
 recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information  
 that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative  
 information and analysis, based on the Company's historical experience and informed credit assessment  
 and including forward-looking information.

 The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more  
 than past due for two hundred and ten days. Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible  
 default events over the expected life of  a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs  
 that result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a  
 shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 12 months). The maximum period  
 considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the Company is   
 exposed to credit risk.

 Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the Gross carrying  
 amount of the assets.         
         
 The Gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable  
 expectations of recovering of a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Company  
 individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on whether  
 there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Company expects no significant recovery from the  
 amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement  
 activities in order to comply with the Company's procedures for recovery of amounts due.   

4.2.1.8 Derecognition       
        
 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have  
 expired or have been transferred and where the Company has transferred substantially all risks and  
 rewards of ownership.       
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 4.2.2 Financial liabilities         

          
 Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or 'at fair value through profit or loss'  
 (FVTPL). A financial liability is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held for trading, it is a derivative or  
 it is designated as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value  
 and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.  
 Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.  
 Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.  
 Any gain or loss on de-recognition is also recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Financial liabilities  
 are derecognized when the contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or have expired or when  
 the financial liability's cash flows have been substantially modified.      
   
4.2.2.1 Mark-up bearing borrowings and borrowing costs       
  
 Mark-up bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, less attributable transaction cost.  
 Subsequent to initial recognition, mark-up bearing borrowings are stated at amortized cost with any  
 difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in statement of profit or loss over the  
 period of borrowings on an effective interest basis.        
 
 Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which these are incurred, except to the  
 extent that they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying asset (i.e. an asset  
 that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale) in which case  
 these are capitalised as part of cost of that asset.        
 
4.2.2.2 Trade and other payables         
          
 Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable cost, if any, and   
 subsequently measured at amortized cost.         

4.2.3 Derivative financial instruments

 Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; any attributable transaction costs are recognised in  
 profit or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, when a derivative financial instrument is not  
 designated in a hedge relationship that qualifies for hedge accounting or when the derivative does not  
 qualifies for hedge accounting are measured at fair value and all changes in its fair value are recognised  
 immediately in profit or loss.         
          
 The fair value of forward exchange contracts is estimated using appropriate valuation techniques. These  
 are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and liabilities when the fair value is negative.  
       
4.2.4 Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities        
  
 Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the financial statements  
 only when there is legally enforceable right to set-off the recognised amounts and the Company intends  
 either to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and to settle the liabilities simultaneously.   
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 4.3 Taxation         

          
 Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognised in the statement of  
 profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in statement of  
 comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in equity or in statement of comprehensive income  
 respectively. In making the estimates for income taxes currently payable by the Company, the management  
 looks at the current income tax law and the decisions of appellate authorities on certain issues in the past.  
        
 Current         
          
 Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income at the current rates of taxation after taking into  
 account tax credits and rebates available, if any. The charge for the current tax also includes adjustments  
 where necessary, relating to prior years which arise from assessments framed / finalised during the year. 
        
 Deferred         
          
 Deferred tax is recognised using balance sheet method, providing for temporary difference between the  
 carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for  
 taxation purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization  
 or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using the tax rates enacted or substantively  
 enacted at the balance sheet date.          
          
 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. A deferred tax asset is  
 recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which  
 the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax asset is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the  
 related tax benefits will be realised.         

4.4 Property, plant and equipment         
          
 Operating assets          
          
 Initial recognition         
          
 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if it is probable that future  
 economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of such item can be  
 measured reliably.
 
 Recognition of the cost in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when  
 the items is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by  
 the management.         
          
 Measurement         
          
 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if  
 any. The cost of property, plant and equipment includes:       
  
 (a) its purchase price including import duties, non refundable purchase taxes after deducting trade  
  discounts and rebates;  

 (b) any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary  
  for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the management; and



An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

9

52

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
  (c) borrowing costs, if any.

 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for  
 as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

 Subsequent expenditure (including normal repairs and maintenance)      
   
 Expenditures incurred to replace a significant component of an item of property, plant and equipment is  
 capitalised and the asset so replaced is retired. Other subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it  
 is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the  
 items can be measured reliably. All other expenditures (including normal repairs and maintenance) is  
 recognised in the statement of profit or loss as an expense when it is incurred.     
     
 Depreciation         
          
 Depreciation on all items is charged on straight line method. The useful lives for depreciation are indicated in  
 note 5.1 to these financial statements.         

 Depreciation on additions to property, plant and equipment is charged from the quarter the asset is available  
 for use up to the quarter prior to disposal.         

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of each part of property, plant and equipment that  
 is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each  
 balance sheet date.         
          
 Gains and losses on disposal         
          
 The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the  
 proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment, and is recognized  
 in the statement of profit or loss.          
          
 Capital work in progress         
          
 Capital work in progress is stated at cost less impairment loss, if any and consists of expenditures  
 incurred (including any borrowing cost, if applicable) and advances made in the course of their  
 construction and installation. Transfers are made to relevant asset category as and when assets are  
 available for intended use.         

4.5 Intangible assets  

 Intangible assets acquired by the Company are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment  
 losses, if any. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits  
 embodied in the specific assets to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.  
       
 Amortisation is charged to the statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful  
 lives of intangible assets. Amortisation on additions to intangible assets is charged from the month in  
 which an item is acquired or capitalised while no amortisation is charged for the month in which the  
 item is disposed off.         
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 4.6 Stores and spares

          
 Stores and spares are valued at weighted average cost except for items in transit which are stated at cost.  
 Provision for obsolete and slow moving stores and spares is determined based on management's estimate  
 regarding their future usability.         
 
4.7 Stock-in-trade
          
 These are valued at lower of cost and net realisable value less impairment loss, if any. Cost is determined  
 under the weighted average basis. Cost comprises all costs of purchases, cost of conversion and other  
 costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition, except for cost of work  
 in process which comprises of raw material cost only as conversion costs are not significant.

 Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated  
 costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.     
             
4.8 Impairment of non-financial assets      
          
 The carrying amounts of the Company's non financial assets, other than deferred tax assets and inventories are  
 reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If such  
 indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount, being higher of value of use and fair value less costs to  
 sell, is estimated. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present  
 value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and  
 the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually  
 are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use  
 that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets. An impairment loss is  
 recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses  
 are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.         
        
4.9 Revenue recognition    
     
4.9.1 Policies applicable before 01 July 2018    
          
 Revenue from the sale of goods were measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net  
 of returns. Revenue was recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership were transferred to the  
 buyer, recovery of the consideration was probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods could  
 be estimated reliably and there were no continuing management involvement with the goods.   
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 4.9.2 Policies applicable from 01 July 2018    

          
 Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. Revenue from  
 operations of the Company are recognized when the goods are provided, and thereby the performance  
 obligations are satisfied. Revenue consists of Plastic caps, Crown caps, PET Resin, BoPET Resin and  
 Preform which generally include single performance obligation. The Company's contract performance  
 obligations are fulfilled at the point in time when the goods are dispatched to the customer. Invoices are  
 generated and revenue is recognised at that point in time, as the control has been transferred to the  
 customers. Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable, excluding  
 amount of sales tax. The Company assesses its revenue arrangements against specific criteria that must be  
 met before revenue is recognised.          
    
4.10 Foreign currency translation   
          
 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Pakistani Rupees at the exchange rates at the dates  
 of the transactions.         
         
 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Pakistani Rupees at  
 the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair  
 value in a foreign currency are translated into Pakistani Rupees at the exchange rate when the fair value  
 was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are  
 translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally  
 recognised in the statement of profit or loss and presented with in other operating expenses.   
      
4.11 Provisions

 A provision is recognized in the balance sheet when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a  
 result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the  
 obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of obligation. Provisions are measured at the  
 present value of expected expenditure, discounted at a pre tax rate that reflects current market assessment of  
 the time value of money and the risk specific to the obligation. However, provisions are reviewed at each  
 balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect current best estimate.      

4.12 Discontinued operation         
          
 A discontinued operation is a component of the Company's business, the operations and cash flows of which  
 can be clearly distinguished from rest of the Company's business and which:     
    
 - represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations,    
    
 - is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical  
  area of operations or        
          
 - is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.      

 Classification as discontinued operation occurs on disposal, abounding or when the operation meets the  
 criteria to be classified as held for sale. When an operation is classified as discontinued operation, the  
 comparative statement of profit or loss is represented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start  
 of the comparative year.           An
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 4.13 Asset held under Ijarah financing     

          
 Assets held under Ijarah financing are accounted for using the guidelines of Islamic Financial Accounting  
 Standard-2 (IFAS 2), "Ijarah". The assets are not recognized on the Company's statement of financial  
 position and payments made under Ijarah financing are recognized in the statement of profit or loss on a  
 straight line basis over the term of the lease.         

4.14 Dividend and appropriation    
          
 Dividend distribution to the Company's shareholders and appropriation to / from reserves is recognized  
 in the period in which these are approved.         
       
 
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Operating fixed assets   
Capital work-in-progress 

 2,091,366 
 74,827 

 2,166,193 

5.1
5.2

2019
(RUPEES IN ‘000)

2018

 2,180,308 
 14,992 

 2,195,300 
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 5.1 Operating fixed assets

The following is a summary of the Company's operating fixed assets:

Leasehold Building on Plant and Spare parts Vehicles Office Furniture Computer Total
 land leasehold machinery and stand-by Improvements and accessories

land equipment equipment

As at 1 July 2018
Cost 28,118        451,835         4,630,692       52,693              48,106      1,976               16,965            5,028            5,235,413     
Accumulated depreciation (6,462)         (126,185)       (2,809,228)      (51,294)             (40,665)     (1,976)              (14,593)           (4,702)           (3,055,105)   
Net book value 21,656        325,650         1,821,464       1,399                7,441        -                  2,372              326               2,180,308     

Additions -              4,226            122,663          -                   13,572      -                  314                 624               141,399        

Disposal 
Cost (2,365)       -                  (2,365) 
Accumulated depreciation 2,111        -                  2,111 

- -                -                 -
- - - -

                   (254)          -                  -                 -
- -

- - - - - -

                (254) 
Depreciation charge 

for the year 658             19,429          202,837          1,399                4,475        -                  881                 408               230,087        

Closing net book value 20,998        310,447         1,741,290       -                   16,284      -                  1,805              542               2,091,366     

As at 30 June 2019
Cost 28,118        456,061         4,753,355       52,693              59,313      1,976               17,279            5,652            5,374,447     
Accumulated depreciation (7,120)         (145,614)       (3,012,065)      (52,693)             (43,029)     (1,976)              (15,474)           (5,110)           (3,283,081)   
Net book value 20,998        310,447         1,741,290       -                   16,284      -                  1,805              542               2,091,366     

Useful life (in years) 30 - 99 20 5 - 20 5 8 3 5 - 10 3

Leasehold Building on Plant and Spare parts Vehicles Office Furniture and Computer Total
 land leasehold machinery and stand-by Improvements equipment accessories

land equipment

As at 1 July 2017
28,118         306,383         3,937,047        52,693              48,106       1,976               16,010            4,996             4,395,329     Cost
(5,804)          (112,445)        (2,648,924)       (41,781)             (36,346)     (1,976)              (13,794)           (4,224)            (2,865,294)    Accumulated depreciation
22,314         193,938         1,288,123

       
 10,912              11,760       -                   2,216              772                1,530,035     Net book value

-              145,452         693,645           -                    48             -                   955                 32                 840,132        Additions 

Disposal 
- -                -                  -                    (48)            -                   -                  - (48)                Cost 
- -                -                  -                    5               -                   -                  - 5 Accumulated depreciation
- -                -                  -                    (43)            -                   -                  -                (43) 

Depreciation charge 
658              13,740           160,304           9,513                4,324         -                   799                 478                189,816        for the year 

21,656         325,650         1,821,464        1,399                7,441         -                   2,372              326                2,180,308     Closing net book value

28,118         451,835         4,630,692        52,693              48,106       1,976               16,965            5,028             5,235,413     
As at 30 June 2018

(6,462)          (126,185)        (2,809,228)       (51,294)             (40,665)     (1,976)              (14,593)           (4,702)            (3,055,105)    
Cost 

21,656         325,650         1,821,464        1,399                7,441         -                   2,372              326                2,180,308     
Accumulated depreciation 
Net book value

30 - 99 20 5 - 20 5 8 3 5 - 10 3Useful life (in years)

2019

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------

---------------------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------

2018



55..11..11 The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows: 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Continuing operations
Cost of sales 25 220,884      182,224        
Distribution and selling costs 26 2,301           1,898            
Administration and general expenses 27 6,902          5,694            

230,087      189,816        

55..11..22 Particulars of immovable property (i.e. land and building) in the name of the Company are as follows:

PPaarrttiiccuullaarrss LLooccaattiioonn  Total area

Leasehold Land (Hub F-1,2,3 & 13, 14 & 15, Hub Industrial Trading Estate 65,500 Sq.
plant) District Lasbella, Balochistan Meters

Leasehold Land (Port Plot No. A-5, N.W.I.Z., Port Qasim Authority, Karachi 20,234 Sq.
qasim plant) Meters

55..11..33 No assets having book value in excess of Rs. 500,000 has been disposed off during the year.

55..22 CCaappiittaall  wwoorrkk--iinn--pprrooggrreessss  
As at 1 Additions Transfers As at 30

 July 2018  June 2019

Building on leasehold land 728            28,620       (4,226)         25,122          
Plant and machinery 14,264       41,967       (14,264)       41,967          
Advance against capital expenditure -             7,738          -              7,738             

14,992       78,325       (18,490)       74,827           

As at 1 Additions Transfers As at 30
 July 2017  June 2018

Building on leasehold land 2,696         138,483     (140,451)     728               
Plant and machinery -             436,412     (422,148)     14,264          
Advance against capital expenditure 5,000         -             (5,000)         -                

7,696          574,895      (567,599)      14,992          

66.. IINNTTAANNGGIIBBLLEE  AASSSSEETTSS 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Computer Softw are
Opening 842             -                
Addition during the year -              1,263            
Amortization during the year (421)            (421)              
Closing as at 30 June 421             842               

--------------------- (Rupees in '000) ------------------- 

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------- 

Cost

Cost

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
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777... LLLOOONNNGGG   TTTEEERRRMMM   LLLOOOAAANNN   TTTOOO   EEEMMMPPPLLLOOOYYYEEEEEESSS   ---   ssseeecccuuurrreeeddd 2019 2018

(Rupees in '000)

Due from employees - considered good 6,024 6,122             
Less: Recoverable within one year (2,449) (1,596)           

3,575 4,526            

777...111 These loans are interest free and granted to executives and employees of the Company in accordance 
with the Company’s policy for purchase of cars, motor cycles and household appliances. The loans
are recoverable in instalments over a period of 24 to 86 months. These are secured against staff
retirement benefits of such employees.

777...222 These also include loan to an employee Mr. Syed Mazhar Ali (Plant manager) amounting Rs. 3.33
million for a period of 78 months repayable in equal monthly instalments. The loan is secured against
staff retirement benefits of the employee.

888... LLLOOONNNGGG   TTTEEERRRMMM   DDDEEEPPPOOOSSSIIITTTSSS   AAANNNDDD   PPPRRREEEPPPAAAYYYMMMEEENNNTTTSSS

DDDeeepppooosssiiitttsss
- Utility deposits 8.1 1,718 1,609            
- Security deposits 8.1 4,539 738               

6,257 2,347            
Provision for doubtful deposits (1,094) (1,094)           

5,163 1,253            
IIIssslllaaammmiiiccc
Long term prepayments 8.2 3,109 18,038
Less: current portion of long term prepayments (3,109) (14,929)

 - 3,109             
5,163 4,362            

888...111 These long term deposits are non-interest bearing.

888...222 This represent payments made in advance in respect of LC confirmation charges at the rate of 3.6%
per annum and is charged to statement of profit or loss over the period of two years.
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99.. DDEEFFEERRRREEDD  TTAAXXAATTIIOONN

Deferred tax liability comprises of (deductible) / taxable temporary differences in respect of the
following:

TTaaxxaabbllee  tteemmppoorraarryy  ddiiffffeerreennccee
Accelerated tax depreciation 190,141         155,923         

DDeedduuccttiibbllee  tteemmppoorraarryy  ddiiffffeerreenncceess
Provision for staff gratuity (8,968)          (6,912)            
Provision for doubtful debts, doubtful advances, slow moving and

obsolete stocks, stores and spares and doubtful deposits (143,727)       (81,505)         
Un-used tax losses and tax credits (225,381)      (175,945)        

(378,076)       (264,362)       

(187,935)        (108,439)        

1100.. SSTTOORREESS  AANNDD  SSPPAARREESS  

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Stores and spares
- in hand 285,099        238,867        
- in transit 11,836           11,287           

296,935        250,154         
Provision for slow moving and obsolete items (48,481)         (48,480)         

248,454        201,674         

1111.. SSTTOOCCKK--IINN--TTRRAADDEE

Raw and packing material
- in hand 585,776         456,855        
- in transit 365,998        387,319         

951,774         844,174         
Work-in-process 233,126        66,918           

Finished goods 684,219        1,346,185      
Provision for slow moving and obsolete stock (3,049)          (6,385)           

681,170        1,339,800     
1,866,070     2,250,892     

1122.. TTRRAADDEE  RREECCEEIIVVAABBLLEESS

Considered good - unsecured 12.1 951,465        644,967        
Considered doubtful 251,180         223,618         

1,202,645     868,585        
Provision for doubtful receivables 12.2 (251,180)        (223,618)        

951,465        644,967        

1122..11 This includes an amount of Rs. 29.990 million (2018: Rs. 29.990 million) receivable from a customer
which has been guaranteed by Al Karam Textile (Private) Limited, an associated company.
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1122..22 PPrroovviissiioonn  ffoorr  ddoouubbttffuull  rreecceeiivvaabblleess

Opening balance 223,618         172,852         

Additional impairment recognised at 01 July 2018 on
trade receivables as at 30 June 2018 19,081           -                

Impairment loss on trade receivables during the year
-  Continued operations 8,481            1,832            
-  Discontinued operations -                48,934          

251,180         223,618         

1133.. LLOOAANNSS  AANNDD  AADDVVAANNCCEESS

LLooaannss  --  ccoonnssiiddeerreedd  ggoooodd
Current maturity of long term loan due from employees 7 2,449            1,596            

AAddvvaanncceess  --  ccoonnssiiddeerreedd  ggoooodd
-  employees against salary 115              164                
-  letters of credit fees and expenses 899             152                
-  suppliers 13.1 9,378          15,127           

10,392         15,443           

AAddvvaanncceess  --  ccoonnssiiddeerreedd  ddoouubbttffuull
Advances to supplier 3,795          1,474 
Provision for doubtful advances (3,795)         (1,474) 

-              - 
12,841           17,039           

1133..11 This includes advances to foreign companies in normal course of business which are as follows:

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Hydero Motion -                1,606            
Ulong Hefei Xulong -                930               
Sacmi Imola 283               322               
Lianyungang Yuanji -                168                
Piovan S.P.A -                814                

283               3,840            

1144.. SSHHOORRTT  TTEERRMM  DDEEPPOOSSIITTSS  AANNDD  PPRREEPPAAYYMMEENNTTSS

CCoonnvveennttiioonnaall
Short term deposits 5,222            7,415             

IIssllaammiicc
Current portion of long term prepayments 8.2 3,109             14,929 

8,331            22,344          
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1155.. OOTTHHEERR  RREECCEEIIVVAABBLLEESS

IIssllaammiicc
Derivative financial assets 15.1 -                42,557          

Sales tax refundable -                61,312           
Others 2,084        3,314 

2,084        107,183 
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1155..11 The Company had entered into forward exchange contracts for USD 3.826 million and a cross forward

contract for Euro into USD which was settled during the year. 

1166.. CCAASSHH  AANNDD  BBAANNKK  BBAALLAANNCCEESS

With Islamic banks
- current accounts 5,599            56,725          
- saving accounts 16.1 90                 -                

With conventional banks
- current accounts 35,231          7,463             

40,920          64,188           

Cash in hand 350               70                 
41,270          64,258          

1166..11 Rate of return on saving accounts range from 3.85% to 6.43% (2018: 3.45% to 3.70%) per annum.

1177.. IISSSSUUEEDD,,  SSUUBBSSCCRRIIBBEEDD  AANNDD  PPAAIIDD  UUPP  CCAAPPIITTAALL

2019 2018 2019 2018
(Number of shares) (Rupees in '000)

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

37,360,000      37,360,000      Ordinary shares of
Rs. 10 each fully paid
in cash 373,600                373,600               

18,680,000      18,680,000      Ordinary shares of
Rs. 10 each issued as
fully paid bonus
shares 186,800                186,800               

56,040,000     56,040,000      560,400                560,400               

1188.. LLOONNGG  TTEERRMM  FFIINNAANNCCEE  --  sseeccuurreedd

IIssllaammiicc
Long term finances utilised under diminishing musharka 529,455                572,133               
Less: current portion of long term finances (403,420)               (194,280)              

126,035 377,853                

The Company has entered into Diminishing Musharka arrangements with following banks as under:

Meezan Bank Limited 18.1 127,641                183,305               
Askari Bank Limited - Islamic Banking Services 18.2 115,212                208,828               
MCB Islamic Bank Limited 18.3 112,500                180,000               
Bank Al-Falah Limited - Islamic Banking Branch 18.4 111,600                -                      
Bank Al-Habib Limited - Islamic Banking Branch 18.5 62,502                 -                      

529,455                572,133               
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 18.1 The Company entered into Diminishing Musharka arrangements with Meezan Bank Limited amounting  

 to Rs. 140.77 million, Rs. 63.64 million and Rs. 42.02 million. These carry profit at the rate of 6 months  
 average KIBOR + 0.6% per annum, 6 months KIBOR + 0.7% per annum and 6 months KIBOR + 0.7%  
 per annum respectively, with a floor of 5% per annum and cap of 25% per annum and is payable on  
 semi-annual basis. The tenor of facilities is up to five years with grace period of 1 year from the date of  
 drawdown. The principal is payable in 8 equal semi-annual instalments and last instalment is payable on  
 25 January 2020, 15 November 2022 and 29 November 2022 respectively. These facilities are secured  
 against 1st exclusive charge over specific fixed asset of the Company with 25% margin to be covered  
 through 1st pari-passu charge over general plant and machinery.      

18.2 This represents Diminishing Musharka arrangements entered with Askari Bank Limited - Islamic  
 Banking Services amounting to Rs. 54.25 million and Rs. 300 million. The first tranche carry profit at  
 the rate of 3 months KIBOR + 0.5% per annum with a floor of 7% and cap of 25% per annum and is  
 payable on quarterly basis in arrears. Further, second tranche carry profit at the rate of 3 months KIBOR  
 + 0.8% per annum with a floor of 4% and cap of 25%. The tenure of the facilities are five years from the  
 date of drawdown. The principal is payable in 20 and 16 equal quarterly instalments and last instalment  
 is payable on 09 July 2019 and 27 November 2020 respectively. The facilities are secured against exclusive  
 hypothecation charges over specific plant and machinery of plastic and crown along with general plant  
 and machinery of the Company amounting 125 million. and 1st pari passu hypothecation charge  
 amounting Rs. 353 million with 15% margin over all present and future plant and machinery of the  
 Company.            

18.3 The Company has entered into Diminishing Musharka arrangements with MCB Islamic Bank  
 Limited amounting to Rs. 180 million. This carry profit at the rate of 6 months KIBOR plus 0.5%  
 per annum with a floor of 5% and cap of 20% per annum and is payable on quarterly basis in  
 arrears. The tenure of facility is up to three years with grace period of 1 year from the date of  
 drawdown. The principal is payable in 8 equal quarterly instalments and last instalment is  
 payable on 27 November 2020. This facility is secured against 1st pari passu charge with 25%  
 margin over plant and machinery and Personal Guarantee of Sponsor Directors.   
              
18.4 The Company has entered into Diminishing Musharka arrangements with Bank Al-Falah  
 Limited - Islamic Banking Branch amounting to Rs. 124 million. This carry profit at the rate  
 of 6 months KIBOR plus 0.85% per annum with a floor of 7% and cap of 20% per annum. The  
 tenor of facility is five years. The principal amount is payable in 10 equal semi-annual instalments  
 and last instalment is payable on 5 July 2023. This facility is secured against 1st exclusive hypothecation  
 charge of Rs. 125 million over imported plant and machinery financed through the facility  
 along with pari passu hypothecation charge of Rs. 40 million over general plant and machinery of  
 the company covering 25% margin requirement.       

18.5 The Company has entered into Diminishing Musharka arrangements with Bank Al-Habib  
 Limited - Islamic Banking Branch amounting to Rs. 62.502 million. This carry profit at  
 the rate of 6 months KIBOR plus 1.50% per annum with a floor of 5% and cap of 18% per  
 annum. The tenor of facility is three years. The principal amount is payable in 24 equal  
 monthly instalments and last instalment is payable on 10 May 2022. This facility is  
 secured against 1st exclusive hypothecation charge over imported plant and machinery  
 financed through the facility.          

18.6 The loans mentioned in notes 18.4 and 18.5 have been classified to current portion as per  
 the requirements of IAS 1 as there were certain covenants mentioned in respective loan  
 agreements which were not met at the reporting date.      
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 19. STAFF RETIREMENT BENEFITS   

19.1 Defined benefit gratuity scheme  

Principal actuarial assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of the fund carried out under
Projected Unit Credit Method as at 30 June 2019 are as follows:

2019 2018

- Discount rate per annum - percentage 12.0% 10.0%
- Expected rate of increase in salary level per annum -

percentage 12.0% 10.0%
- Normal retirement age - years 60 60
- Death rate - mortality table SLIC 2001-2005 SLIC 2001-2005

The amounts recognised in balance sheet are as follows: 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Present value of defined benefit obligation 30,925                 23,834                 
Fair value of plan assets -                       -                      

30,925                 23,834                 

MMoovveemmeenntt  iinn  nneett  ddeeffiinneedd  bbeenneeffiitt  lliiaabbiilliittyy
Opening balance 23,834                 16,888                 
Charge for the year 6,772                   4,079                   
Re-measurement: Actuarial loss recognised in other
comprehensive income 3,113                    4,565                   

Benefits paid (2,794)                  (1,698)                  
Closing balance 30,925                 23,834                 

AAmmoouunnttss  rreeccooggnniizzeedd  iinn  ttoottaall  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee  

The following amounts have been charged in respect of these benefits to statement of profit or loss
and statement of comprehensive income: 
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2019 2018

(Rupees in '000)

Current service cost 4,528                   2,635                   
Interest cost 2,244                   1,444                   

6,772                   4,079                   
Component of defined benefit costs (re-measurement)

recognised in statement of comprehensive income

Re-measurements: Actuarial (gain) / loss on obligation
 - (Gain) / loss due to change in financial assumptions -                     - 
 - (Gain) / loss due to change in demographic assumptions -                     - 
 - (Gain) / loss due to change in experience adjustments 3,113                  4,565 

3,113                  4,565 
Total defined benefit cost recognised in statement of  

profit or loss and statement of comprehensive income 9,885                   8,644                   

Expected contribution in the following year 6,276                    7,289                   

Expected benefit payments to retire in the following year 2,381                   289                     

Re-measurements: Accumulated actuarial 
loss recognised in statement of comprehensive income 3,113                    4,565                   

Weighted average duration of the defined 
benefit obligation (years) 12.48                   35.54                   

AAnnaallyyssiiss  ooff  pprreesseenntt  vvaalluuee  ooff  ddeeffiinneedd  bbeenneeffiitt  oobblliiggaattiioonn
Type of Members:
 - Management 23,133                  17,926                  
 - Non - management 7,792                    5,908                   

30,925                 23,834                 

Vested / Non-Vested
 - Vested benefits 23,310                  19,043                 
 - Non - vested benefits 7,615                    4,791                   

30,925                 23,834                 

Type of benefits
 - Accumulated benefit obligation 11,038                  11,068                 
 - Amount attributed to future salary increase 19,887                  12,766                 

30,925                 23,834                 
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SSeennssiittiivviittyy  aannaallyyssiiss

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other 
assumptions constant, would have affected the defined benefit obligation by the amounts shown
below.

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

Discount rate + 1% 27,878           21,276           

Discount rate - 1% 34,584           26,848           

Long term salary increase + 1% 34,838           26,925           

Long term salary decrease - 1% 27,624           21,175           

2200.. LLOONNGG  TTEERRMM  PPAAYYAABBLLEE  --  sseeccuurreedd

IIssllaammiicc
Husky Injection Molding Systems 20.1 608,386         448,423         

less: current portion (608,386)        -                 
-                 448,423         

Sacmi Imola S.C. 20.2 -                 124,000         
-                 572,423         

2200..11 This represents amount payable to a supplier amounting to USD 3.826 million under letter of credit (LC) to purchase 
Huksy molding machine. This carry mark-up at the rate of 3.05% per annum. The LC is maturing on 14 September 2019.

2200..22 This represents amount payable to Sacmi Imola S.C. (“supplier”) against purchase of plastic closure machine. 
The Company has arranged long term finance facility under Diminishing Musharaka from Bank Al-Falah Limited -
Islamic Banking Branch amounting to Rs. 124 million for direct remittance to supplier. This carry profit at the rate
 of 6 month KIBOR plus 0.85%. The tenure of the facility is five years. The principal amount is payable in  10 equal
semi-annual installments and last installment is payable on 5 July 2023. The facility is secured against first
exclusive hypothecation charge over imported plant and machinery financed through the facility.

2211.. TTRRAADDEE  AANNDD  OOTTHHEERR  PPAAYYAABBLLEESS

Trade creditors including bills payable 906,761         1,263,568      
Accrued expenses 1,235             1,035             
Advances from customers 30,408           114,782         
Workers' welfare fund -                 754                
Workers' profit participation fund 21.1 8,948             8,099             
Bonus payable -                 5,223             
Insurance premium payable 2,084             3,421             
Due to employees 21.2 8,580             13,939           
Sales tax payable 20,493           759                
Short term compensated absences 3,903             2,293             
Provision for Government levies 1,000             1,000             
Provision for gas infrastructure cess 23.1.2 126,200         88,944           
Ijarah Payable 339                -                 
Others 603                608                

1,110,554      1,504,425      
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2211..11 WWoorrkkeerrss''   pprrooffiitt  ppaarrttiicciippaattiioonn  ffuunndd 2019 2018

(Rupees in '000)

Balance as at 1 July 8,099            5,585            
Interest on funds utilised in the Company's business 

at 10.5% (2018: 9.5%) per annum 30 850               531               
8,949            6,116             

Allocation for the year 28 -                1,983            
Balance as at 30 June 8,949            8,099            

2211..22 This represents salary and gratuity payable to employees amounting to Rs. 7.587 million (2018: Rs.
13.869 million) and Rs. 0.565 million (2018: Rs. 0.070 million) respectively.

2211..33 Murabaha and Istisna payable amounting to Rs. 525.910 million and Rs. 1,515.699 million have been
reclassified to short term borrowings in order to give better presentation and accordingly comparatives
have been rearranged.

2222.. SSHHOORRTT  TTEERRMM  BBOORRRROOWWIINNGGSS  --  sseeccuurreedd

CCoonnvveennttiioonnaall
Money market loan under mark-up arrangement 22.1 200,000        300,000        
Running finance under mark-up arrangement 22.2 190,681         429,709        

IIssllaammiicc
Murabaha 22.5 525,910         168,487         
Istisna 22.5 1,515,699      1,114,391      

2,432,290     2,012,587      

22.1 The facility for money market loan is available from an associated banking company for the  
 purpose of meeting working capital requirement. The rate of mark-up on this financing arrangement is  
 agreed at KIBOR plus 0.50% (2018: KIBOR plus 0.50%) per annum. The arrangement is secured  
 against 1st pari passu hypothecation over Company's stock and trade debts.    
     
22.2 The facility for running finance available from an associated banking company is for the purpose  
 of meeting working capital requirements. The rate of mark-up is KIBOR plus 1.00% (2018: KIBOR  
 plus 1.00%) per annum. These facilities mature within twelve months and are renewable. The  
 arrangement is secured against first pari-passu charge by way of registered hypothecation over  
 Company's stock and trade debts.   

22.4 Total amount of facility available against above borrowings amounted to Rs. 517.36 million  
 (2018: Rs. 845.37 million). Further, as at 30 June 2019, the unavailed facilities from the above  
 borrowings amounted to Rs. 126.68 million (2018: Rs. 115.66 million).     
             
22.3 Last year, in addition to the above, the Company had obtained and repaid interest-free short  
 term loan from its associated companies on as and when required basis. Maximum aggregate  
 amount of short term loan outstanding at the end of any day during the year was Rs. 62  
 million. Cumulative short term loan availed and repaid during the year was Rs. 394.5  
 million.         
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22.5 The Company has obtained facility of Rs. 2,020.95 million (2018: Rs. 1,480.95 million) from  
 Islamic banks for short term finance under Murabaha and Istisna financing arrangement and  
 has availed Rs. 514.974 million under Murabaha financing and Rs. 1,484.836 million under  
 Istisna financing as at 30 June 2019 (2018: Rs. 165.326 million under Murabaha financing  
 and Rs. 1,095.545 million under Istisna financing). The rate of profit approved by the bank  
 at time of disbursement ranges from 7.26% to 14.06% (2018: 6.34% to 7.54%) per annum.  
 These facilities can be availed either in Pakistani rupees or in USD and carries profit at the  
 preferential rate as approved by the banks from time to time and is based on KIBOR.

23. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS  

23.1 Contingencies

23.1.1 The facility for opening letter of guarantees from an associated banking company amounted  
 to Rs. 119.242 million (2018: Rs. 119.242 million). Bank guarantees amounting to Rs. 119.242  
 million (2018: Rs. 119.242 million) have been issued in favour of Sui Southern Gas Company  
 Limited and Collector of Customs for payment of gas bills and clearance of import consignment  
 while submitting bank guarantee against advance income tax to be deposited with national  
 exchequer at import stage.          
  
23.1.2 In 2011, the Gas Infrastructure Development Cess was levied via GIDC Act, 2011 and further  
 the rate of cess was amended via Finance Bill 2012 - 2013 which was challenged in the Supreme  
 Court of Pakistan. The Supreme Court of Pakistan declared GIDC Act, 2011 to be unconstitutional  
 and ultra vires on the grounds that GIDC is a 'Fee' and not a 'Tax' and in the alternative it is not  
 covered by any entry relating to imposition or levy of tax under Part-I of the Federal Legislative list  
 and on either counts the 'cess' could not have been introduced through a money bill under the  
 Constitution.        

 During 2015, Government passed a new law "Gas Infrastructure Development Cess Act, 2015 by  
 virtue of which all prior enactments have been declared infructuous. The said Act levies GID Cess  
 at Rs. 200/MMBTU on captive power consumption and at Rs.100/MMBTU on industrial connection  
 from the date of passing of that Act. The Company has obtained a stay order on the retrospective  
 application of the Act from The Honourable High Court of Sindh. The Company is confident of  
 favourable outcome and therefore has not recorded a provision of Rs. 60.39 million (2018: Rs.  
 60.39 million) in these financial statements. However, the Company has recognised charge against  
 GID cess from the date (i.e. April 2015) of the passing of the Act. On 26 October 2016, the High  
 Court of Sindh held that enactment of GIDC Act 2015 is ultra-vires to the Constitution of Pakistan.  
 Sui Southern Gas Company Limited has filed an intra-court appeal before the Divisional Bench of  
 High Court of Sindh and is pending for adjudication. On 31 May 2017, separate petition filed by  
 another company in the Peshawar High Court challenging the vires of the GIDC Act 2015 was  
 dismissed for the reason that the Act has been passed by the Parliament strictly in accordance with  
 the legislative procedures contained in the Constitution of Pakistan and therefore no procedural  
 defect in the Act which could be made as a ground for its annulment. In view of aforementioned  
 developments, the Company on prudent basis, continue to recognise provision after the passage of  
 the Act.        

23.1.3 For the year 2015, the Company engaged legal advisor to file appeal against order passed under  
 section 122(1) on account of disallowance of expenses on different heads. The appeal was filed and  
 has been heard by the Learned Commissioner Inland Revenue (Appeals-II), LTU, Karachi. Based  
 on consultation with tax advisor, the management is confident of favorable outcome and is not likely  
 to sustain any loss from the cases and has not recorded any provision in this regard.   
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23.1.4 Nine ex-workers of the Company have filed a case with National Industrial Relations Commission  
 at Quetta Bench bearing case no. 07(01)/2015-Q and 07(169)/2016-Q for recovery of their  
 final settlement amount. The Company is contesting the case vigorously. Based on consultation  
 with legal advisor, the management is confident of favourable outcome and is not likely to  
 sustain any loss from the cases and has not recorded any provision in this regard.   
     
23.2 Commitments

23.2.1 Letters of credits

 The Company has facilities of Rs. 2,362 million (2018: Rs. 2,233 million) for opening letters of  
 credit including Rs. 800 million from an associated banking company (2018: Rs. 900 million). At 30  
 June 2019, the open letters of credits for stock in trade, stores and spares and for capital commitment  
 amounted to Rs. 228.84 million (2018: Rs. 445.354 million) including Rs. 74.39 million from an  
 associated banking company (2018: Rs. 182.121 million).

23.2.2 The facilities disclosed in notes 23.1.1 and 23.2.1 are secured against ranking charge by  
 way of registered hypothecation over Company's stock and trade debts, export bills sent to collection,  
 documents of title to goods consigned to the Company, Banker's acceptance and Accepted Draft.

23.2.3 Ijarah financing

 The Company has car ijarah facility from the Askari Bank Limited amounting to Rs. 30 million  
 (2018: Rs. Nil) out of which Rs. 12.55 million (2018: Rs. Nil) were utilised. The ownership of the  
 cars are with Askari Bank Limited Islamic Banking Services during the tenor of the facility of  
 each vehicle. As per requirement of IFAS-2 Ijarah financing has been treated as an operating  
 lease.        
     

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

The total of future Ijarah payment under arrangement are as follows:

Not later than one year 2,828            - 
Later than one year and not later than five years 11,312           - 

14,140           -  
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2244.. NNEETT  SSAALLEESS

Local - Crowns and plastic caps 2,163,427      2,062,276     
Local - PET resin 5,697,444      3,930,108     
Export - PET resin -                2,578            
Preform 337,799         -                
Others 702               2,045            

8,199,372      5,997,007      

Sales tax (1,174,437)     (744,380)        
Net sales 7,024,935      5,252,627     

2255.. CCOOSSTT  OOFF  SSAALLEESS

Raw and packing material consumed
- Opening stock 798,823        670,707        
- Purchases 5,104,863      4,316,813     

5,903,686     4,987,520      
- Closing stock (919,756)        (798,823)       

4,983,930     4,188,697     
Salaries, wages and other benefits 25.1 233,823        191,580        
Fuel and power 249,993        211,967        
Depreciation 5.1.1 220,884        182,224        
Repairs and maintenance 10,025           12,798          
Rent, rates and taxes 12,545           11,878          
Stores and spares consumed 99,111           70,132          
Provision for / (reversal against) slow moving and obsolete stock (3,336)           5,252            
Printing and stationary 1,397            1,536            
Travelling and conveyance 26,078          18,669          
Communication 392               318               
Insurance 19,162           15,365          
General expenses 3,459            4,575            

5,857,463      4,914,991     

Opening stock of work-in-process 66,918           18,828          
Closing stock of work-in-process (233,126)        (66,918)         
Cost of goods manufactured 5,691,255     4,866,901     

Opening stock of finished goods 1,346,185      1,161,952     

      

Closing stock of finished goods (684,219)        (1,346,185)    
6,353,221     4,682,668     

2255..11 Salaries, wages and other benefits include Rs. 5.42 million (2018: Rs. 3.26 million) in respect of staff
gratuity expense. 
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2266.. DDIISSTTRRIIBBUUTTIIOONN  AANNDD  SSEELLLLIINNGG  CCOOSSTTSS 2019 2018

(Rupees in '000)

Salaries and other benefits 26.1 10,235           8,945            
Depreciation 5.1.1 2,301             1,898            
Outward freight and handling charges 66,625          63,267          
Marketing expense -                360               
Travelling and conveyance 749                627               
Fuel and power 492               305               
Repair and maintenance 70                 46                 
Communication 174                170               
Other expenses 385               266               

81,031          75,884          

2266..11 Salaries and other benefits include Rs. 0.34 million (2018: Rs. 0.20 million) in respect of staff gratuity
expense.

2277.. AADDMMIINNIISSTTRRAATTIIOONN  AANNDD  GGEENNEERRAALL  EEXXPPEENNSSEESS

Salaries and other benefits 27.1 31,805          26,834          
Rent, rates and taxes 6,463            5,876            
Depreciation 5.1.1 6,902            5,694            
Amortisation 421               421               
Fuel and power 1,474             914               
Travelling and conveyance 2,248            1,881            
Communication 521               509               
Printing, stationary and subscription fees 2,641            2,499            
Provision against doubtful advances 2,322            1,474             
Repair and maintenance 211                138               
Ijarah Rental 339               -                
Legal and professional charges 2,410             3,096            
Other expenses 1,154             785               

58,911           50,121          

2277..11 Salaries and other benefits include Rs. 1.10 million (2018: Rs. 0.61 million) in respect of staff gratuity
expense.

2288.. OOTTHHEERR  OOPPEERRAATTIINNGG  EEXXPPEENNSSEESS  

Auditors' remuneration 28.1 1,300            1,300            
Workers' profit participation fund 21.1 -                1,983            
Workers' welfare fund -                754               
Exchange loss - net 28.2 352,876         171,258        

354,176         175,295        

2288..11 AAuuddiittoorrss''   rreemmuunneerraattiioonn

Audit fee 650               650               
Half yearly review 250               250               
Special certifications 250               250               
Out of pocket expenses 150                150               

1,300            1,300            
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2288..22 This includes exchange gain amounting to Rs. 48.78 million (2018: Rs. 44.41 million) on account of

forward contracts entered during the year.

2299.. OOTTHHEERR  IINNCCOOMMEE  2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

IInnccoommee  ffrroomm  ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  --  IIssllaammiicc
Profit on saving accounts 8                   3                   

IInnccoommee  ffrroomm  nnoonn--ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  
Scrap sales 7,723             9,356            
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,496            1                   
Liabilities written back -                12,458          

9,227            21,818          

3300.. FFIINNAANNCCEE  CCOOSSTTSS

CCoonnvveennttiioonnaall
Mark-up on:
- short term running finance 71,498          51,063          
- short term import finances 265               1,158            

71,763           52,221          
IIssllaammiicc
Mark-up on:
- long term finance 57,009        36,549 
- short term murabaha 20,854       11,306 
- short term istisna 124,114      72,111 
Amortization of:
- long term payables 21,723       10,663 
- LC confirmation charges 14,929        11,412 

238,629     142,041 
CCoonnvveennttiioonnaall
Bank guarantee commission 1,043           634 
Inland bill discounting and documentation charges 12,908          5,964 
Interest on workers' profit participation fund 21.1 850              531 
Bank charges 3,585           3,812 

18,386          10,941 

328,778        205,203        

3311.. TTAAXXAATTIIOONN

Current tax 46,786          2,769            
Deferred (73,060)         (69,823)         

(26,274)          (67,054)          

3311..11 Under section 5A of Income Tax Ordinance, 2001 (as amended by the Finance Act 2018), a tax shall be
imposed at the rate specified therein on the accounting profit before tax on the every public company,
other than schedule bank or modaraba, that drives profit for a tax year but does not distribute dividend
up to a prescribed amount (requisite dividend) within six months of the end of the tax year. The
Company has reported loss before tax and therefore Company has not charged additional tax under
section 5A.
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3311..22 RReellaattiioonnsshhiipp  bbeettwweeeenn  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  eexxppeennssee  aanndd  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  pprrooffiitt 2019 2018

(Rupees in '000)

Accounting (loss) / profit before taxation - continuing operation (150,436)      83,442         
Accounting profit / (loss) before taxation - discontinued operation 352              (46,522)        

(150,084)      36,920         

Tax at the applicable rate of 29% (2018: 30%) (43,524)        11,076         
Tax effect of permanent difference on land depreciation 191              197              
Effect of minimum tax and tax credits (6,133)          (69,365)        
Effect of change in tax rate 23,282                       (24,764)

2,769Tax under section 5A of the Ordinance -                             
Others 1                 50              

(26,183)        80,037       

Taxation - continuing operation (26,274)        (67,054)        
Taxation - discontinued operation 91                (12,983)        

(26,183)        (80,037)        

3322.. PPRROOFFIITT  //  ((LLOOSSSS))  AAFFTTEERR  TTAAXXAATTIIOONN  FFRROOMM  DDIISSCCOONNTTIINNUUEEDD  OOPPEERRAATTIIOONN

As per the Board of Directors (BOD) decision held in the BOD meeting on 20 April 2015, polyester
staple fibre plant was converted into PET resin manufacturing plant by making necessary modifications
in fibre plant. Accordingly, the fibre business was discontinued.

RReessuullttss  ooff  ddiissccoonnttiinnuueedd  ooppeerraattiioonn

Net sales 32.1 13,685         3,656           

Cost of sales 32.2 (13,333)        (3,687)          
Gross profit / (loss) 352              (31)               

Impairment loss on trade receivables -               (48,934)        
Profit / (loss) from operation 352              (48,965)        

Other income 32.3 -               2,443           
Profit / (loss) before taxation 352              (46,522)        
Taxation 32.4 (91)               12,983         
Profit / (loss) after taxation from discontinued operation 261              (33,539)        

3322..11 NNeett  ssaalleess

Raw material 14,096         3,729           
Sales tax (411)             (73)               
Net sales 13,685         3,656           
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3322..22 CCoosstt  ooff  ssaalleess 2019 2018

(Rupees in '000)
Raw and packing materials consumed
- Opening stock 45,351               49,038             
- Closing stock (32,018)              (45,351)            

13,333               3,687               

3322..33 OOtthheerr  iinnccoommee

IInnccoommee  ffrroomm  nnoonn--ffiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss
Liabilities written back -                    2,443               

3322..44 TTaaxxaattiioonn

Current year 91                     -                  
Deferred -                    (12,983)            

91                     (12,983)            

3322..55 CCaasshh  ffllooww  ssttaatteemmeenntt  --  ddiissccoonnttiinnuueedd  ooppeerraattiioonn

Net cash generated from operating activities 13,685               13,656             

3322..66 As at 30 June 2019, stock in trade and trade receivables included balances of Rs. 32.108 million and
Rs. 29.9 million (2018: Rs. 45.762 million and Rs. 29.9 million) respectively pertaining to
discontinued operation.

Property, plant and equipment and stores and spares related to discontinued operation are stated
at not less than their recoverable amounts. Stock-in-trade is stated at their net realisable values.
Appropriate impairment has been recorded against doubtful trade debts. All other assets are stated
at their realisable values.

3333.. ((LLOOSSSS))  //  EEAARRNNIINNGGSS  PPEERR  SSHHAARREE  --  BBAASSIICC  AANNDD  DDIILLUUTTEEDD

(Loss) / profit for the year after taxation - continuing operation (124,162)            150,496           
Profit / (loss) for the year after taxation - discontinued operation 261                   (33,539)            

(123,901)            116,957           

(Number of shares)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 56,040,000        56,040,000     

(Rupees)

(Loss) / earnings per share - basic and diluted - continuing
operation (2.21)                  2.69                 

Earnings / (loss) per share - basic and diluted - discontinued 
operation 0.00                  (0.60)                

Net (loss) / earnings per share - basic and diluted (2.21)                  2.09                 
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3344.. RREEMMUUNNEERRAATTIIOONN  OOFF  CCHHIIEEFF  EEXXEECCUUTTIIVVEE,,  DDIIRREECCTTOORRSS  AANNDD  EEXXEECCUUTTIIVVEESS

The aggregate amounts charged in the financial statements for remuneration, including all benefits, to the Chief Executive, Directors and
Executives of the Company were as follows: 

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Managerial
  remuneration 3,524    2,772    2,740    1,980    -    -       26,459    20,617        32,723             25,369             
Housing and utilities 1,876    1,428    1,460    1,020    -    -       12,625    10,342        15,961             12,790             
Gratuity -        -        -        -        -    -       1,441      1,140          1,441               1,140               
Medical expenses -        -        -        -        -    -       1,709      1,431          1,709               1,431               
Leave encashment -        -        -        -        -    -       1,399      2,339          1,399               2,339               
Other allowances -        -        -        -        -    -       448         182             448                  182                  
Meeting fees 100       100       125       100       875   775      -          -             1,100               975                  

5,500    4,300    4,325    3,100    875   775      44,081    36,051        54,781             44,226             

Number of persons 1 1 1 1 8 7 23 16 33 25

---------------------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ----------------------------------------------------------------------

TotalChief Executive Non Executive 
Directors

ExecutivesExecutive Directors

34.1 Three directors and most of the executives of the Company are provided with free use of Company  
 maintained cars.           
             
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED DISCLOSURES

 Financial risk management 

 The Board of Directors of the Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and  
 oversight of the Company's risk management framework. The Company has exposure to the  
 following risks from its use of financial instruments:

 -  Credit risk            
 
 -  Liquidity risk            
       
 -  Market risk            
       
 Risk management framework   

 The Board of Directors are responsible for developing and monitoring the Company’s risk  
 management policies. The Company’s risk management policies are established to identify and  
 analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor  
 risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to  
 reflect changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities. The Company, through its  
 training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive  
 control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

 The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Company’s risk  
 management policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in  
 relation to the risks faced by the Company. 
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35.1 Credit risk

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counter party to a financial  
 instrument fails to meets its contractual obligations. Concentration of credit risk arises when a  
 number of counter parties are engaged in similar business activities or have similar economic  
 features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected  
 by changes in economics, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate  
 the relative sensitivity of the Company's performance to developments affecting a particular  
 industry. customers of Plastic caps, Crown caps, PET Resin, BoPET Resin and Preform are  
 mostly food and beverages companies.  

 Exposure to credit risk           
 
 Credit risk of the Company arises principally from the trade debts and bank balances. The  
 carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum  
 exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is as follows:      
              
              

2019 2018

Loan to employees 6,024                6,122                
Long / short term deposits 10,385               8,668                
Trade receivables 951,465            644,967            
Other receivables 2,084                45,871              
Bank balances 40,920              64,188              

1,010,878          769,816             

Bank balances are held with reputable banks with high quality credit ratings. At year end, the Company has bank 

balances with banks having credit ratings ranging from A-3 to A1+.

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date is:

2019

Gross Impairment Total

Not past due 813,956         (1)                      813,955             
Past due 90-180 days 95,831           (61)                    95,770              
Past due 181-360 days 7,119              -                    7,119                  
Past due over 360 days 285,739         (251,118)            34,621              

1,202,645      (251,180)           951,465            

2018
Gross Impairment Total

Not past due 574,204         -                    574,204             
Past due 90-180 days 42,285           -                    42,285              
Past due 181-360 days -                 -                    -                    
Past due over 360 days 252,096         (223,618)           28,478              

868,585         (223,618)           644,967            

(Rupees in '000)

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------

------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------



Pakistan Synthetics Limited
 Based on the calculation of expected credit losses which is estimated based on past experience,  
 consideration of financial position, past track records and recoveries, the Company  
 believes that appropriate impairment has been made and no additional impairment allowance  
 is necessary in respect of unprovided amounts as there are reasonable grounds to believe  
 that the amounts will be recovered in due course of time. Prior year provision was based  
 on the Company's policy with respect of IAS 39 as disclosed in note 4.2 to the financial statements. 
        
35.2 Liquidity risk 
 
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations  
 associated with financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial  
 asset. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that the Company could be required to  
 pay its liabilities earlier than expected or difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments  
 associated with financial liabilities as they fall due. The Company’s approach to managing  
 liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet  
 its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable  
 losses or risking damage to the Company's reputation, by having credit lines available as  
 disclosed in note 22 to these financial statements. The Company ensures that it has sufficient  
 cash on demand to meet expected working capital requirements. The following are the  
 contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding the impact  
 of netting agreements:          

Carrying Contractual Up to one Two to
amount cash flows year five years

NNoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivvee  ffiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess
Long term finance - secured (refer note 18.6) 529,455          (624,480)        (482,785)           (141,695)           
Long term payables - secured 608,386          (612,208)        (612,208)            -                    
Trade and other payables 923,505          (923,505)        (923,505)           -                    
Short term borrowings - secured 2,432,290       (2,454,255)     (2,454,255)        -                    
Accrued mark-up 21,971            (21,971)          (21,971)             -                    

4,515,607       (4,636,419)     (4,494,724)         (141,695)           

Carrying Contractual Up to one Two to
amount cash flows year five years

NNoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivvee  ffiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess

Long term finance - secured 572,133          (634,948)        (229,409)           (405,539)           
Long term payables - secured 572,423          (613,217)        (16,782)              (596,435)           
Trade and other payables 1,290,087       (1,290,087)     (1,290,087)        -                    
Short term borrowings - secured 2,012,587       (2,016,714)     (2,016,714)         -                    
Accrued mark-up 21,779            (21,779)          (21,779)             -                    

--------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------

------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------

2019

2018

4,469,009       (4,576,745)     (3,574,771)         (1,001,974)         

The contractual cash flows relating to the above financial liabilities have been determined on the basis of mark-up
rate effective as at 30 June. The rate of mark-up have been disclosed in notes 18 and 22 to these financial statements.

An
nu

al
 R

ep
or

t 2
01

9

76



Annual Report 2019

77

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
35.3 Market risk
 
 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates  
 and equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  
 The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within  
 acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

35.3.1 Currency risk

 The Company is exposed to currency risk on foreign creditors and short term borrowings that are  
 denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currency of the Company. The Company’s  
 exposure to foreign currency risk is as follows:        

Rupees US Dollars Euro

Long term payables (608,386)      (3,826)          -                
Foreign creditors (803,024)      (4,540)          (419)              

(1,411,410)    (8,366)          (419)              

Gross balance sheet exposure (1,411,410)    (8,366)           (419)               

Rupees US Dollars Euro

Other receivables 42,557          3,826               969                

Long term payables (572,423) (3,826) (969)               
Foreign creditors (1,151,373)    (9,046) (269) 

(1,723,796)    (12,872)          (1,238) 

Gross balance sheet exposure (1,681,239)    (9,046)          (269)               

The following significant exchange rate has been applied:

Average rate Reporting date rate
2019 2018 2019 2018

USD to PKR 136.44                 110.29          160.00          121.60            
Euro to PKR 155.48                 132.34          182.16           141.57            

--------------- (Amount in '000) ---------------

--------------- (Amount in '000) ---------------

2018

2019



Pakistan Synthetics Limited
 Sensitivity analysis 
 
 A five percent depreciation of the rupee against the following currencies at 30 June would have  
 decreased the equity and profit or loss by the after tax amounts shown below. This analysis assumes  
 that all other variables, in particular interest rates remain constant.     

35.3.2 Interest rate risk
 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value on future cash flows of a financial instrument will  
 fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Interest rate exposure arises from long  
 term finance and short term borrowings.

 At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Company's significant interest bearing  
 financial instruments was as follows:          

 Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments    
 
 The Company does not account for any fixed rate financial assets and liabilities at fair value  
 through profit or loss. Therefore a change in interest rates at the reporting date would not affect  
 statement of profit or loss.           

 A five percent appreciation of the rupees against the above currencies at 30 June would have had  
 the equal but opposite effect on the above currency to the amounts shown above, on the basis that  
 all other variables remain constant. The sensitivity analysis prepared is not necessarily indicative of  
 the effects on profit for the year and assets / liabilities of the Company.     
              

 
2019 2018

USD (47,519)           (38,500)         
EURO (2,710)            (1,333)           

(50,229)          (39,833)         

Equity and profit or loss

2019 2018 2019 2018
(Percentage) (Rupees in '000)

VVaarriiaabbllee  rraattee  iinnssttrruummeennttss
Bank balances 3.85%  - 6.43% 3.45% - 3.70% 90                  -                

VVaarriiaabbllee  rraattee  iinnssttrruummeennttss
Long term finances 6.81%  - 13.69% 6.66% - 7.61% (529,455)        (572,133)       
Long term payable 3.05%  - 7.01% 3.05% - 7.01% (608,386)        (572,423)       
Short term borrowings 3.5%  - 14.06% 6.34% - 7.54% (2,432,290)     (2,012,587)    

(3,570,131)     (3,157,143)     

Carrying amountInterest rate
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 Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments      
 
 A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have decreased /  
 (increased) profit after tax for the year by Rs. 25.348 million (2018: Rs. 21.289 million). This  
 analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.  
 The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018.       
   
 The sensitivity analysis prepared is not necessarily indicative of the effects on profit for the year  
 and assets / liabilities of the Company.         
 
35.3.3 Other price risk          
           
 Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will  
 fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or  
 currency risk). The company is not exposed to other price risk.      
    
35.4 Fair value of financial instruments         
 
 When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses market observable  
 data as far as possible. Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy  
 based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows:

 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.    
          
 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or  
 liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).     
      
 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
 inputs).           
           
 



Pakistan Synthetics Limited
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Level 1 Level 2 Level 3amortised amortised 
cost cost

FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  nnoott
mmeeaassuurreedd  aatt  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee

Loan to employees 6,024           -                -            -            -                
Long / short term deposits 10,385          -                -            -            -                
Trade receivables 951,465       -                -            -            -                
Other receivables 2,084           -                -            -            -                
Cash and bank balances 41,270         -                -            -            -                

FFiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  nnoott
mmeeaassuurreedd  aatt  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee

Long term finance - secured -               529,455        -            -            -                
Long term payables - secured -               608,386        -            -            -                
Trade and other payables -               923,505        -            -            -                
Short term borrowings - secured -               2,432,290     -            -            -                
Accrued mark-up -         21,971          -            -            -                

Loans amortised Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
and cost

receivables

FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss  nnoott
mmeeaassuurreedd  aatt  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee

Loan to employees 6,122            -                -            -            -                
Long / short term deposits 8,668           -                -            -            -                
Trade receivables 644,967       -                -            -            -                
Other receivables 45,871         -                -            -            -                
Cash and bank balances 64,258         -                -            -            -                

FFiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  nnoott
mmeeaassuurreedd  aatt  ffaaiirr  vvaalluuee

Long term finance - secured -               572,133         -            -            -                
Long term payables - secured -               572,423        -            -            -                
Trade and other payables -               1,290,087     -            -            -                
Short term borrowings - secured -               2,012,587      -            -            -                
Accrued mark-up -               21,779          -            -            -                

The estimated fair value of all financial assets and liabilities is considered not significantly different from carrying 
values as the items are either short-term in nature or periodically repriced.

---------------------------------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) -------------------------------------------------

2019
Carrying amount Fair value

------------------------------------------ (Rupees in '000) ------------------------------------------

2018
Carrying amount Fair value

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities,
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy.           
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36. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES    
          
The related parties comprise of entities over which the Company is able to exercise significant  
influence, entities with common directors, major shareholders, staff retirement benefits, directors  
and key management personnel. Transactions with related parties are entered into at commercial  
terms, as per the terms of employment and actuarial advice, as the case may be.

Details of transactions with related parties, other than those which have been specifically  
disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements are as follows:     
    

Pakistan Synthetics Limited

2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

KKKeeeyyy   mmmaaannnaaagggeeemmmeeennnttt   pppeeerrrsssooonnnnnneeelll   cccooommmpppeeennnsssaaatttiiiooonnn

Managerial remunerations 32,723 25,369          

Others 22,058 18,857          

AAAssssssoooccciiiaaattteeeddd   bbbaaannnkkkiiinnnggg   cccooommmpppaaannnyyy

Current bank account balance 1,716 7,129               

Saving account balance 90 -

-

                  

Short term murabaha 370,393 36,203             

Short term istisna 355,276 248,072           

Short term borrowings 390,681 729,709           

Accrued mark-up 10,585 10,120             

Bank collection charges paid 756 3,312               

Bank guarantee commission 1,043 634                 

Mark up on long term finance 1,160 -                  

Interest income on bank deposits 8 3                     

Mark up on short term import finance under mark-up arrangement 265 1,158               

Mark up on short term borrowings 71,498 51,063             

Mark up on short term murabaha 7,382 5,511               

Mark up on short term istisna 24,307 8,100               

Mark up on inland bill discounting 747 4,363               

AAAmmmnnnaaa   IIInnnddduuussstttrrriiieeesss   (((PPPrrriiivvvaaattteee)))   LLLiiimmmiiittteeeddd

Purchase of generator 5,000 -                  

Long term finance 62,502              



36.1 The following are the related parties with whom the Company had entered into transaction or  
 have arrangement / agreement in place:        
  

36.2 No associated company owns any shares of the company except for Sattar (Private) Limited  
 which own 400 ordinary shares of the company

36.3 There has been no outstanding balances with related parties except for Bank Al-Habib Limited  
 and Bank Islami Pakistan Limited which are disclosed above. These are settled in ordinary  
 course of business.          

 Name of the Related Party 

 Al-Karam Textile Mills (Private) Limited
 Amna Industries (Private) Limited  
 Bank Al-Habib Limited  
 Bank Islami Pakistan Limited  
 Sattar (Private) Limited  
 Iqbal Textile (Private) Limited  
 Dhabeji Salts (Private) Limited  
 Akaz Brands (Private) Limited  
 Al-Hilal Shariah Advisors (Private) Limited
 Al-Hilal Securities Advisors (Private) Limited 

Relationship

Associated Company due to common directorship  
Associated Company due to common directorship   
Associated Company due to common directorship   
Associated Company due to common directorship   
Associated Company due to common directorship   
Associated Company due to common directorship   
Associated Company due to common directorship   
Associated Company due to common directorship   
Associated Company due to common directorship
Associated Company due to common directorship   

Pakistan Synthetics Limited

3377.. PPLLAANNTT  CCAAPPAACCIITTYY  AANNDD  PPRROODDUUCCTTIIOONN 2019 2018

Capacity available - Plastic and crown caps Cartons 558,570           558,570           

Actual production - Plastic and crown caps Cartons 459,345           495,057           

Capacity available - PET resin Metric tons 28,000            28,000            

Actual production - PET resin Metric tons 25,121             25,782             

Capacity available - PET preform Octabins 31,000            3,265               

Actual production - PET preform Octabins 5,986               1,771               

3377..11 Since the production of crown / plastic caps, PET resin and PET preform is purely demand driven therefore
variance is mainly attributed to the reduced or increased demand.

3388.. WWOORRKKIINNGG  CCAAPPIITTAALL  CCHHAANNGGEESS  AANNDD  FFIINNAANNCCIINNGG  AACCTTIIVVIITTIIEESS 2019 2018
(Rupees in '000)

3388..11 WWoorrkkiinngg  ccaappiittaall  cchhaannggeess

(Increase) / decrease in current assets:
Stores and spares (46,780)            (18,911)            
Stock in trade 388,158           (356,752)          
Trade debts (334,060)          99,517             
Loans and advances 1,876               (6,267)              
Short term deposits and prepayments 14,013             (18,071)            
Other receivables 105,099           (709)                 

128,306           (301,193)          
(decrease) / increase in current liabilities:
Trade and other payables (443,981)          369,243           

(315,675)          68,050             
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39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 The objective of the Company when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as  
 a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for  
 other stakeholders; and to maintain a strong capital base to support the sustained development  
 of its businesses.

 The Company manages its capital structure by monitoring return on net assets and makes  
 adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions. In order to maintain or adjust  
 the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividend paid to the shareholders  
 or issue new shares. The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.  
        

38.2 Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows arising from financing activities:  
    

Pakistan Synthetics Limited

Long term Short term Accrued Unclaimed Total
finance - borrowings - mark-up dividend
secured secured

Balance as at 1 July 2018 572,133           2,012,587        21,779          16,847             2,623,346        

Changes from financing
cash flows

Proceeds from loans and 
borrowings 186,502           6,487,751        -                -                  6,674,253        

Repayments of loans and
borrowings (229,180)          (5,829,020)       (6,058,200)      

Dividend paid -                  -                  -                (12,624)            (12,624)       
TToottaall  cchhaannggeess  ffrroomm  

ffiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess (42,678)            658,731           -                (12,624)            603,429           

Other changes - interest
cost

Interest expense -           -                 324,150      -                 324,150           
Interest paid -           -                 (323,958)     -                 (323,958)          
Changes in running finance -           (239,028)         -              -                 (239,028)          

-           (239,028)         192             -                 (238,836)          

BBaallaannccee  aass  aatt  3300  JJuunnee
22001199 529,455           2,432,290        21,971          4,223               2,987,939        

--------------------------------- (Rupees in '000) ---------------------------------



40. INFORMATION ABOUT BUSINESS SEGMENTS  
   
 During the year, the management has reassessed the segment reporting process and concluded  
 that discontinued business (refer note 32) is no more a segment because of no operation and  
 not material to the business operation. Currently the Company deals in Plastic caps, Crown  
 caps, PET Resin, BoPET Resin and Preform which is considered as single reportable segment  
 as there is no process of reviewing and monitoring of operating activities, financial results,  
 forecast / plan for the segment and no decision is made or allocation of resources by Chief  
 Executive or Chief Operating Officer (key decision makers) for product wise. Further, there is  
 no discrete information available specific to the segment nor the segment information presented to  
 the Board of Directors and key decision makers. Therefore, disclosures of segment reporting  
 has not been presented in these financial statements.       
            
41. NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 

42. GENERAL 

42.1 Comparative Information 
   
 Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified or re-presented in order to give better  
 presentation and accordingly comparatives have been rearranged.     
              
42.2 Non adjusting event after reporting date
 
 The Board of Directors in their meeting held on 19 September 2019 have decided to issue  
 50 right shares for every 100 shares held i.e. 50% at a right price of Rs. 18 per share  
 (including a premium of Rs. 8 per share) The financial statements for the year ended 30  
 June 2019 do not include the effect of the right issue which will be accounted for in the  
 financial statements for the year ending 30 June 2020.
        
42.3 Authorisation for Issue
 
 These financial statements were authorised for issue in the meeting of Board of Directors  
 held on 19 September 2019       

Pakistan Synthetics Limited

The detail of number of employees are as follows: 2019 2018

Average employees of the Company during the year 317                  298                 
Total employees of the Company at year end 325                 306                 

(Number of employees)
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YAKOOB HAJI KARIM
Chief Executive

ANWAR HAJI KARIM
Director

SALEEM ADVANI
Chief Financial Officer
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

NO. OF SHAREHOLDERS SHAREHOLDING TOTAL SHARES HELD

From To

388

409

211

251

30

22

4

5

2

3

1

2

1

1

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

2

2

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

101

501

1001

5001

10001

15001

20001

25001

30001

35001

40001

50001

65001

95001

120001

240001

275001

370001

495001

505001

600001

855001

930001

945001

1055001

1160001

1270001

1460001

1635001

1860001

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

100

500

1000

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

45000

55000

70000

100000

125000

245000

280000

375000

500000

510000

605000

860000

935000

950000

1060000

1165000

1275000

1465000

1640000

1865000

 15,797 

 114,251 

 165,062 

 605,152 

 241,594 

 283,863 

 63,000 

 114,400 

 58,000 

 99,400 

 40,000 

 84,400 

 53,500 

 67,450 

 197,500 

 121,082 

 242,848 

 279,500 

 370,500 

 500,000 

 508,000 

 601,500 

 1,714,596 

 1,861,394 

 947,848 

 1,056,191 

 1,165,000 

 1,273,845 

 1,460,896 

 1,639,000 

 1,861,245 
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019

NO. OF SHAREHOLDERS SHAREHOLDING TOTAL SHARES HELD

From To

S. NO.
CATEGORIES

OF
SHAREHOLDERS

NUMBER
OF

SHAREHOLDERS

TOTAL
SHARES

HELD
PERCENTAGE

INDIVIDUAL
JOINT STOCK COMPANIES
FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
INVESTMENT COMPANIES
INSURANCE COMPANIES
FOREIGN INVESTORS
BANK
MODARABA
MUTUAL FUND
OTHERS

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

 1,319 
 13 

 2 
 8 
 3 
 4 
 2 
 1 
 7 
 3 

 1,362 

 50,052,455 
 96,906 

 1,592 
 17,100 

 1,881,951 
 1,452 
 1,592 

 100 
 3,733,483 

 253,369 

 56,040,000 

89.32%
0.17%
0.00%
0.03%
3.36%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
6.66%
0.46%

100.00%

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1362

1880001

2055001

2140001

2275001

2380001

2530001

2615001

3595001

3825001

4125001

5225001

5565001

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

1885000

2060000

2145000

2280000

2385000

2535000

2620000

3600000

3830000

4130000

5230000

5570000

1,880,591 

 2,057,783 

 2,140,640 

 2,277,790 

 2,383,704 

 2,531,469 

 2,615,005 

 3,596,402 

 3,829,851 

 4,125,864 

 5,227,349 

 5,566,738 

 56,040,000 
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
PATTERN OF SHAREHOLDING
AS AT 30 JUNE 2019
NIT and ICP

National Investment (Unit) Trust
Investment Corporation of Pakistan

1
2

National Bank of Pakistan Trustee Dept.
National Bank of Pakistan Trustee Wing

3
4

4

 2,057,783 
 1,800 

300
100

 2,059,983

Directors, CEO & their Spouses

Executives

Public Sector Companies & Corporation
State Life Insuracne Corp. of Pakistan

1 Mr. Anwar Haji Karim - Director
2 Mrs. Zeenat (W/O Mr. Anwar Haji Karim)
3 Mr. Yakoob Haji Karim - Chief Executive Officer
4 Mrs. Shahida (W/o Mr. Yakoob Haji Karim)
5 Mr. Sajid Haroon - Director
6 Mrs. Akila (W/o Mr. Sajid Haroon)
7 Mr. Abid Umer - Director
8 Mr. Ahmed Aslam - Director
9 Mr. Noman Yakoob - Director
10 Mr. Faraz Younus Bandukda - Director
11 Mrs. Saeed Fatima Naqvi - Director

 1,273,845 
 1,056,191 
 2,140,640 

 947,848 
 2,531,469 

 930,700 
 1,861,245 

 40,500 
 2,383,704 

 500 
 500 

 13,167,142 11

Nil _

1  1,880,591
 1,880,591

Mutual Funds
CDC-Trustee AKD Opportunity Fund
Golden Arrow Selected Stocks Fund Ltd.
Asian Stock Funds Limited

3

 508,000
 1,165,000

 500
 1,673,500

Individuals

Shareholders holding 5% or more 
 
Mrs. Noor Jehan 
Mrs. Sana Yakoob 
Mrs. Farah Yakoob 
Mr. Fawad Anwar
Mr. Anis Yakoob 
 
Associated Companies, Undertakings & Related Parties 
 
Sattar (Pvt) Limited 

No trade in the shares of the Company has been carried out by Directors, Exectuives and their spouses
and minor children during the year.    

Total
 36,885,313
 56,040,000

6.42%  3,596,402
6.83%  3,829,851
7.36%  4,125,864
9.33%  5,227,349
9.93%  5,566,738

 
 
 

 400

Banks, Development Finance Institutions, Banking Finance Institutions,
Insurance Companies, Modarabas and Others 32  373,471
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Notice is hereby given that the Thirty Fourth Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of Pakistan 
Synthetics Limited will be held on Wednesday, 23 October 2019 at 3.00 p.m. at  the registered office of 
the Company at 3rd Floor, Karachi Dock Labour Board Building, 58-West Wharf Road, Karachi , Pakistan to 
transact the following business:

1. To confirm the minutes of the Seventeenth Extra-Ordinary General Meeting of the Company held  
 on 31 August 2019.

2. To receive, consider and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company together with  
 Directors and Auditors’ Reports thereon for the year ended 30 June 2019.

3. To appoint the Auditors of the Company and to fix their remuneration. The retiring auditors M/S  
 KPMG Taseer Hadi & Co., Chartered Accountants being eligible have offered themselves for  
 reappointment.

4. To transact any other business with permission of the Chair.

         
         By the Order of the Board

Pakistan Synthetics Limited
NOTICE OF MEETING

YAKOOB HAJI KARIM
Chief Executive

Karachi
Dated: 19 September 2019

 NOTES:-
• The Shares Transfer Books of the Company will remain closed from Wednesday, 16 October 
 2019 to Wednesday, 23 October 2019 (both days inclusive). Transfer received at the office of the  
 Company’s share registrar M/s F.D. Registrar Services (Private) Limited, 1705, 17th Floor,  
 Saima Trade Tower A, I.I. Chundrigar Road, Karachi, at the close of business on 15 October 2019  
 will be treated in time to attend the Thirty Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company.

• CDC members are requested to bring with them their CNIC along with Participant’s ID numbers  
 and their account numbers at the time of attending the meeting in order to facilitate identification  
 of the respective members.

• In case of corporate entity, the Board of Directors’ resolution/power of attorney with specimen  
 signature of the nominee shall be produced (unless it has been provided earlier) at the time of the  
 meeting.

• A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting may appoint another member as his/her proxy  
 to attend and vote. Votes may be given either personally or by proxy or by attorney, and in case of  
 a corporation by a representative duly authorized.

• The instrument of proxy, as per form attached, duly executed should be deposited at the Registered  
 Office of the Company at least 48 hours before the time of the Thirty Fourth Annual General Meeting.

• The Shareholders are requested to notify the Company if there is any change in their addresses immediately.
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Pakistan Synthetics Limited
NOTICE OF MEETING
• CNIC numbers of shareholders are mandatorily required for dividend distribution. Shareholders are  
 therefore requested to submit a copy of their CNIC (if not already provided) to the Share Registrar,  
 M/s F.D. Registrar Services (Private) Limited. In case of non-receipt of the copy of a valid CNIC, the  
 Company would be unable to comply with SRO 831(1)/2012 dated 05 July 2012 of SECP and therefore  
 would be constrained under SECP order dated 13 July 2015 to withhold the payment of dividend of  
 such shareholders. The shareholders while sending CNIC must quote their respective folio number  
 and name of the Company.

• In accordance with the provisions of Section 242 of the Companies Act, 2017, dividend payable in  
 cash shall only be paid through electronic mode directly into the bank account designated by the  
 entitled shareholders. All shareholders are requested to provide the details of their bank mandate  
 specifying ; (i) title of account (ii) account number (iii) IBAN number (iv) bank name (v) branch  
 name, code and address to the Company’s Share Registrar, M/s F.D. Registrar Services (Private)  
 Limited. Shareholders who hold shares with Participants / Central Depository Company of Pakistan  
 (CDC) are advised to provide the bank mandate details as mentioned above, to the concerned
 Participant / CDC.

• Pursuant to Notification vide SRO 787(1)/2014 of 08 September 2014; SECP has directed to facilitate  
 the members of the company receiving Annual Financial Statements and Notices through electronic  
 mail system (e-mail). We are pleased to offer this facility to our members who desire to receive  
 Annual Financial Statements and Notices of the Company through e-mail in future. In this respect  
 members are hereby requested to convey their consent via e-mail on a standard request form which  
 is available at the Company website i.e. www.pslpet.com Further, it is the responsibility of the  
 member to timely update the Share Registrar of any change in the registered e-mail address.

• The Company shall provide its Member, with the option of e-voting or voting by postal ballot in  
 accordance with the provisions of Companies (Postal Ballot) Regulations, 2018. Shareholders who  
 wish to participate through e-voting are requested to provide not later than seven days from the date  
 of Thirty Fourth Annual General Meeting, through a letter duly signed by them carrying name,  
 Folio/CDC A/c. no., email address, contact number to the share registrar of the Company, M/s F.D.  
 Registrar Services (Private) Limited.

• As per Companies Act, 2017, if the Company receives consent from members holding in aggregate  
 10% or more shareholding residing in a geographical location to participate in the meeting through  
 video conference at least 7 days prior to the date of Thirty Fourth Annual General Meeting,  
 the Company will arrange video conference facility in that city subject to availability of such  
 facility in that city. To avail this facility, please provide the following information to the Share Registrar,  
 M/s. F.D. Registrar Services (Private) Limited.

 I/We, being a member of Pakistan Synthetics Limited holder of _________ Ordinary shares as per  
 register folio no./CDC A/c. no. __________ hereby opt for video conference facility at ___________  
 (Please insert name of the City)

• Shareholders who have not yet collected their dividend / physical shares are advised to contact our  
 Share Registrar immediately to collect / enquire about their unclaimed dividend or shares. 



 
Pakistan Synthetics Limited
FORM OF PROXY
THIRTY FOURTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

IMPORTANT

1. This Proxy Form, duly completed and signed
must be received at the Registered Office of the
Company at 3rd Floor, Karachi Dock Labour
Board Building, 58-West Wharf Road, Karachi.
not less than 48 hours before the time of holding
the meeting.

FOR CDC ACCOUNT HOLDERS/CORPORATE ENTITIES:

1. The Proxy Form shall be witnessed by two persons whose
names, addresses and CNIC numbers shall be mentioned
on the Form.

2. Attested copies of CNIC or the passport of the beneficial owners
and the proxy shall be furnished with the Proxy Form.

In addition to the above the following requirements have to be met:

I/We

of

being a member(s) of Pakistan Synthetics Limited holding

Ordinary Shares hereby appoint

of or failing him/her

of who is / are also member(s) of Pakistan Synthetics Limited as my /  our proxy
in my / our absence to attend and vote for me / us and on my / our behalf at Thirty Fourth Annual General
Meeting of the Company to be held on 23 October 2019 and / or any adjournment thereof.

As witness my/our hand/seal this day of 2019

Signed by the said

in the presence of 1.

2.

Please Quote Folio # /
Participant ID# & A/c#

Signature on
Revenue Stamp

of Appropriate value

The signature should agree
with the specimen registered
with the Company.

2. No person shall act as proxy unless he himself is a member
of the Company except that a corporation may appoint a
person who is not a member.

3. If a member appoints more than one proxy and more than
one instruments of proxy are deposited by a member with the
Company, all such instruments of proxy shall be rendered
invalid.





If undelivered please return to:

PAKISTAN SYNTHETICS LIMITED
Third Floor, Karachi Dock Labour Board Building,
58, West Wharf Road, Karachi-74000.


